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Dear Shareholder

Over the past year, Golden Cross has enjoyed considerable success 
with the drilling at its Copper Hill project.  It was pleasing that 
in May 2006, the Company was able to announce a copper/gold 
resource of slightly in excess of 100 million tonnes and in August 
2006, an increase to 136 million tonnes.

Throughout the coming year and beyond, much expertise and 
experience will be brought to bear to advance the project towards 
development and production.  This annual report presents 
shareholders with a comprehensive project overview of the work 
done to date and planned.

Without question, the biggest determinant of the economic merit 
and value of the Copper Hill project will be the prices which can 
be obtained for its output.  As the graphs to the right indicate, 
the recent hefty increases in the prices of copper and gold have 
created an encouraging environment for a project such as Copper 
Hill; however, it is too early to contemplate with any certainty the 
contract or spot prices which will apply.  I am sure all those who 
are following the progress of the project will keep a close watch 
on these prices, and the global economic forces which materially 
influence them, over the coming year.

The question was put to me recently as to whether I thought Copper 
Hill was a company maker.  My answer to that question was and 
remains a resounding “yes”; however, the answer depends to degree 
on what is meant by the term “company maker”.  Some would 
take it to mean that for the term to apply, the Company should be 
able to predict with some certainty that its future as a self-funded 
profitable producer is assured.  If for no other reason than that the 
copper and gold price outlook is as uncertain as their recent prices 
have been volatile, it is too early to say that the Copper Hill project 
will deliver that outcome.  We are hopeful it will.  

5 Year Gold

5 Year Copper

But what we can say with more surety is that Copper Hill has enabled GCR to partly shrug off its mantle of an 
optimistic explorer surviving year to year on a cocktail of well selected exploration prospects, the dedication and 
expertise of its exploration team, the hopes of its shareholders and annual capital raisings, and beholden to Mother 
Nature (or is that Lady Luck?).  GCR now has a project to work on which has a real chance of production, self-funding 
cash flow and profits.

The encouragement of the project has brought many new shareholders to the Company including two new institutional 
substantial shareholders.  The project has enabled the Company to raise the capital required to mount an aggressive 
drilling campaign at Copper Hill.  As I write, hopes are high that the 5 cent options which expire on 30 September 
2006 will be exercised in full, which will bring in new funds of in excess of $5 million.  The project has caused the 
market capitalisation of the Company to increase to $27.5 million, more than triple that of a year ago.  The project 
was an important consideration in the decision of our new Managing Director, Kim Stanton-Cook to join the Company 
in February of this year.  

All of these factors are building blocks for the Company.  Looking ahead, the task of the directors, management and 
staff of the Company is to capitalise on the benefits which the Copper Hill project has brought to date and continue 
to add sustainable value to the Company’s shares.

In last year’s annual report, I wrote of the Three Pillars Strategy, with the three pillars being exploration, project 
development and business development.  Over the past year, the Company has been focussed on exploration and 
project development to the exclusion of business development.  I will be encouraging my fellow directors to adopt a 
more balanced approach to the three pillars this coming year.

Yours faithfully

Christopher Ryan
Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
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The Company’s long-term objective is to participate in the 
discovery of one or more world-class mineral deposits. 
The short-term objective is to add value through 
exploration and development of mineral properties.

Value may be added through identifying and acquiring 
mineral properties in prospective locations, generating 
drill targets through sampling and innovative modelling, 
delineating resources, entering into significant farm-out 
or royalty arrangements with other companies, together 
with developing projects through to production, or 
acquiring advanced projects, to provide cash flow.

The Company is presently focusing on its Copper Hill 
Project near Molong in NSW, with the aim of mining the 
large, low grade, copper-gold resource.  With this in 
mind, the Company has recently commenced a second 
15,000m drilling program and initiated an economic 
scoping study.

RISK AND REWARD
The Company seeks to balance its quest for significant
shareholder rewards with the prudent management of 
downside risk.

On the reward upside, the Company is constantly 
searching for new opportunities, both at the corporate 
and exploration level.

New mineral properties are actively sought in prospective 
locations, such as new or proven mineral fields or 
geologically-prospective terrain.  Once a property is 
acquired, a detailed investigation is undertaken to 
ascertain its potential and whether the possible size and 
prospectivity of the mineral targets warrants sole funding 
by the Company or initial funding by others, through a 
farm-out.

Farm-outs are a tool used by the Company to manage 
downside risk, inherent in exploration, by sharing the 
exploration and development costs and the ownership of 
a project.  Recent examples include the following:

• Broken Hill farm-out to Inco in June 2006 (can 
spend $2.4 million to earn 60%) and

• Broken Hill farm-out to JOGMEC in March 2006 
(can spend $2 million to earn 51%)

• Wagga Tank farm out to Zinifex Australia (can 
spend $550,000 to earn 51%)

If a large deposit was brought into production with GCR 
holding a minority interest, it could be a “company-
maker” for GCR, achieved with little risk to shareholders 
during the farm-in phase.

EXPLORATION ON GOLDEN CROSS 
PROPERTIES DURING 2006
Exploration expenditure on GCR properties (Fig 1) during 
2006 was in excess of $4 million.

Once again GCR’s exploration expenditure was focused 
on drilling key projects, with over 20,000m of drilling 
completed during 2006 on GCR properties.

COPPER HILL SUMMARY
•  136 million tonne resource (Indicated and Inferred)

•  455,000 tonnes contained copper

•  1.4 million ounces contained gold

•  New zone discovered at Copper Hill North

•  Standard Crush-Grind-Flotation process

•  Good metallurgical recovery

•  Low strip ratio

•  Railway to site

•  Close to 132 KVa power

ROYALTIES
GCR holds five royalties, described on page 10, 
including the Mt Boppy 3% gross royalty, which will 
provide GCR with revenue expected to be in excess of 
$500,000 over the next few years

Figure 1.  GCR Tenement Locations

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES

ROYALTIES
GCR holds  ve royalties, described on page 10, 
including the Mt Boppy 3% gross royalty, which will 
provide GCR with revenue expected to be in excess of 
$500,000 over the next few years.
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Copper Hill
The Copper Hill copper–gold deposit is located adjacent 
to the Mitchell Highway about 5 km north of the town of 
Molong in NSW and about four hours drive from Sydney. 
Molong is just over 30 km from the regional centre of 
Orange and 45 km from the large Cadia Valley Operation 
comprising several gold-copper mines owned and 
operated by Newcrest Mining Limited (Fig 2). Cadia Valley 
and Copper Hill are the two largest known porphyry-
related deposits located within the Molong Volcanic Belt, 
a magmatic complex of intrusive and volcanic rocks of 
Ordovician age. GCR controls 100% of Copper Hill under 
a 93 square kilometre Exploration Licence. 

Copper Hill has been the main focus of GCR’s exploration 
activities during the past year. It was recognised by 
GCR as the project that offered the best potential for 
development as a large bulk tonnage operation. Starting 
from a 20-year historical base of some 27,000m of 
percussion, reverse-circulation (RC) and core drilling, 
GCR embarked on a major program of RC and core 
drilling to better define the extent of the deposit, infill
existing drilling and test outlying prospects that could 
contribute to the overall resource.

New zones of mineralisation have been discovered in 
the past year and the main deposit now extends over a 
strike length of 1.5 km and has a width of over 400m. 
Resource blocks have been defined to depths of over 
300m. Discrete zones of higher grade mineralisation 
have been discovered and these contribute favourably 
to the project’s economics. The most recent discovery 
of massive and disseminated chalcopyrite in a potassic 
porphyry at North Copper Hill demonstrates the project’s 
potential.

The success of these programs has been a direct result of 
GCR’s growing understanding of the geological controls 
on mineralisation and the systematic approach to drill 
evaluation.

Resource Estimation

In August 2006 a resource estimate was conducted and 
determined a JORC compliant Indicated and Inferred 
Resource estimate of 105 million tonnes at grades of 
0.33% copper and 0.33 g/t gold using a 0.2% copper 
cutoff.  Subsequent GCR drilling totalling 10,400m has 
served to increase the resource to 136 million tonnes 
containing 455,000 tonnes of copper and 1.4 million 
ounces gold at a 0.2% copper cutoff (see Table 1 and 
Table 2 below)

Table 1.  Copper Hill Resource – August 2006 and May 
2006 - 0.2% copper cut-off

August 2006 May 2006

Resource 136 million tonnes 105 million tonnes

Grade 0.33% Cu and 0.32 
g/t Au 

0.33% Cu and 0.33 
g/t Au

Gold
equivalent
grade 1.09 g/t gold* 1.08 g/t gold*

Contained
copper 455,000 tonnes 344,000 tonnes

Contained gold 1.4 million ounces 1.1 million ounces

Contained gold 
equivalent* 4.7 million ounces 3.6 million ounces

Table 2.  Copper Hill Resource Estimates – August and 
May 2006 - 0.2% copper cut-off

August 2006 Estimate May 2006 Estimate

Indicated Inferred Total Indicated Inferred Total

Tonnes
(Mt) 79.9 56.1 136.0 26 79 105

Copper
(%) 0.36 0.30 0.33 0.38 0.31 0.33

Gold
(g/t) 0.35 0.27 0.32 0.42 0.30 0.33

Gold
Equiv.
(g/t) * 1.18 0.96 1.09 1.29 1.01 1.08

% of 
total
tonnes 58.8% 41.2% 100% 25% 75% 100%

*Gold Equivalent: Gold grade g/t + (copper % grade x 2.3), 
using a gold price of US$400 and copper price of US$3000/
tonne) with no allowance for differential metal recoveries. 
Quoted significant figures should not be interpreted to denote 
precision.

Preliminary Mining Studies
Preliminary modelling, based on a 10 million tonnes per 
annum production rate, indicate initial head grades for 
Year 1 would be 0.41% copper and 0.34 g/t gold.  This 
could yield 20,300 tonnes of copper and 45,600 ounces of 
gold, assuming 85% recovery for both.  In Year 5, 0.23% 
copper and 0.20 g/t gold could yield 16,900 tonnes of 
copper and 45,650 ounces of gold.  Figures 3 and 4 show 
the possible production rates from the preliminary study 
and the results are summarised in Table 3.

Figure 2.  Copper Hill Location

REVIEW OF EXPLORATION

Preliminary modelling, based on a 10 million tonnes per 
annum production rate, indicate initial head grades for 
Year 1 would be 0.41% copper and 0.34 g/t gold.  This 
could yield 20,300 tonnes of copper and 45,600 ounces 
of gold, assuming 85% recovery for both.  In Year 5, 
0.23% copper and 0.20 g/t gold could yield 16,900 
tonnes of copper and 45,650 ounces of gold.  These 
production rates are based on very preliminary studies 
using conservative cost and price assumptions
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Table 3 - Preliminary estimated production rates - 
5mtpa vs 10mtpa.

5 Mtpa Case 10 Mtpa Case

Year Au 
ounces

Cu
tonnes

Au
ounces

Cu
tonnes

1 4,162 2,000 53,600 23,800
2 41,800 18,900 65,400 25,800
3 58,900 20,000 115,100 34,000
4 63,900 18,900 92,000 25,000
5 62,300 17,300 53,700 19,900
6 28,500 10,100 60,500 21,000
7 29,900 11,000 69,500 21,600
8 30,800 11,400 73,300 23,300
9 33,000 11,700 116,209 29,177
10 35,600 11,600 1,402 385

Pit Design

Pit modelling has estimated a strip ratio of 0.58:1 waste 
to ore and this ratio is maintained for most of the mine 
life.  Geotechnical evaluation has commenced and 
preliminary indications are that there are no obvious 
impediments to a conventional pit design.  Geotechnical 
work  continues.

Metallurgy

Initial testwork on composites from the high grade 
intervals from hole GCHR064 returned 97% for copper and 
93% for gold.  While initial results are very encouraging 
further work is underway on lower grade material to 
determine if high recoveries can be maintained on all 
mineralisation types.

Other testwork, using conventional flotation processing, 
has produced a high quality and high grade concentrate 
(33.5% copper and 60 g/t gold) with no deleterious 
elements.

Transport

Infrastructure assessment efforts will increase. Initial 
studies indicate the Copper Hill railway line is in good 
condition but that some sleeper replacement will be 
required. Indicative rail freight prices for concentrate 
delivery to Port Kembla or Newcastle are satisfactory, 
with capacity for discounts by connecting with thrice-
weekly concentrate trains from Parkes and Cobar. Rolling 
stock and container requirements will be reviewed.

Power

Power requirements are provided for with the Molong 
132KVa sub-station located only 4.5 kilometres to the 
southeast. GCR has been advised that surplus capacity 
exists in the district.

Water

Water supplies require further work and study. The 
process required to gain approval to dam local streams, 
collect groundwater and purchase water licences has 
begun and will accelerate during the year. The Lake 
Burrendong to Copper Hill pipeline proposal will be 
examined in detail.

Environment

Preliminary environmental work will commence, with 
the approval of local landholders, by planting tree 
lanes and corridors along fence-lines and roads. Local 
tree and shrub species, already identified, will be used. 
Environmental baseline studies will be extended after 
consultation with EPA. 

Weather recording systems have been identified and will 
be installed. Flow rate monitors or v-notch weirs are to 
be installed on all major drainages around the proposed 
mine site.

Plant Layout

Initial mine-site design will commence to determine 
optimum areas for locating mill and plant, stacking 
and rail loading sites, waste dumps, tailings dams, 
holding dams, bunds, administration and maintenance 
buildings.

Local Community

Facilities exist in Molong and Orange for supplies, 
engineering and transport and these and other nearby 
towns will provide attractive accommodation options 
for the entire workforce. The project has, subject to 
permitting and legislative requirements, the support of 
the Cabonne Shire Council and NSW Government.

In summary, Copper Hill has a number of positive 
attributes:

•  very low strip ratio (0.58 waste:1 ore) 

•  encouraging metallurgy 

•  high quality and high grade concentrate

•  proximity to 132KVa electric power

•  an adjacent railway spur line 

•  local community and government support

Figure 4.  10 Mtpa Mining Study

Figure 3.  5 Mtpa Mining Study
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Pit Design

Pit modelling has estimated a strip ratio of 0.58:1 waste 
to ore and this ratio is maintained for most of the mine 
life.  Geotechnical evaluation has commenced and 
preliminary indications are that there are no obvious 
impediments to a conventional pit design.  Geotechnical 
work  continues.

Metallurgy

Initial testwork on composites from the high grade 
intervals from hole GCHR064 returned 97% recoveries 
for copper and 93% for gold.  While initial results are 
very encouraging further work is underway on lower 
grade material to determine if high recoveries can be 
maintained on all mineralisation types.

Figure 3.  April 2006 Optimised Pit Outline

Figure 4.  Diamond drilling at Copper Hill 
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Geology

Mineralisation at Copper Hill is hosted in rocks of 
tonalitic composition that have intruded older andesitic 
volcanic rocks. Both the intrusions and volcanic rock are 
Ordovician in age (about 460 million years old) and the 
well exposed intrusive complex is about 5 km long. Recent 
geological work by GCR in areas of poor outcrop suggest 
that intrusive rocks are considerably more widespread 
than originally believed. 

Copper Hill contains copper and gold mineralisation in 
a corridor oriented in a northwest-southeast direction. 
Known, continuous mineralisation has a  strike length 
of almost 2,000m and is at least 500m wide. Within the 
mineralised corridor a number of higher grade zones were 
originally recognised and referred to as the Western, 
Eastern, Saddle and Boundary zones. 

Recent, more detailed drilling shows that while these 
zones tend to have an overall north north-west trend, they 
also coalesce to form another distinctive elongate east-
west trending corridor. This corridor is seen on surface 
geochemical maps and in both induced polarisation and 
magnetic geophysical surveys. Geologically, this marks 
a lithological offset where a major fault or shear zone 
juxtaposes mineralised intrusive rocks to the south 
against volcanic rocks to the north (Fig 5). 

This east-west corridor, seen in the new geology map 
(Fig 5), is thought to represent a zone of extension and 
offset which controlled emplacement of a new potassic, 
mineralising porphyry at Copper Hill.

The recognition of this corridor and results obtained from 
hole GCHR190 at Copper Hill North has implications for 
expansion of resources and further regional exploration. 
Not only is the north-northwest regional trend an 
important control, but specific east-west structures exert 
control on the localisation of mineralisation. 

GCR recently tested this concept by drilling a number of 
holes in the far western part of the east-west corridor 

(the Copper Hill North area) and encountered visible 
copper mineralisation over a broad (400m) interval. The 
upper portion of hole GCHR190 support this concept, 
returning 188m of 0.39% copper and 0.17 g/t gold.

Cross sections in the centre of Copper Hill show that 
higher grade zones of mineralisation (>1% copper 

Figure 5.  Copper Hill Geology

Figure 6.  Cross Section 5450N

Figure 7.  480RL Plan View

Figure 6.  Cross Section 5450N
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and/or >1g/t  gold) occur in relatively narrow (25m) 
steeply dipping zones.  These are surrounded by a broad 
envelope of mineralisation.  The 0.2% copper envelope 
is over 350m wide and extends to a depth of greater 
than 300m. For example, on Section 5450N (Fig 6) a 
recent drill hole, GCHR107, intersected 196m at 0.46% 
copper and 0.80 g/t gold, serving to signicantly expand 
the resource towards the west.

A longitudinal section (Fig 8) shows that the main Copper 
Hill zone hosts mineralisation over 1,500m along strike, 
over 300m deep and mineralisation remains open at 
depth.  Fig 8 also shows a general paucity of drilling both 
north and south of the main Copper Hill area.  GCR has 
recently encountered zones of mineralisation to the south 
(Wattle Hill, Lode 3, Hayshed and Boomerang prospects) 
and north (Copper Hill North) which are expected to add 
to the existing resource inventory.

Regional Exploration
A low level, high resolution, airborne geophysical survey 
was completed in August 2006. The survey covered the 
whole of the tenement, except for the Molong township. 
The survey provided data to establish the magnetic and 
radiometric  characteristics of the Copper Hill porphyry 
complex, the various mineralised zones, alteration 
zones and the structural elements.  The survey detected 
additional anomalies, including buried porphyries, within 
the tenement area.

Recent mapping identified a tonalitic intrusion containing 
quartz-carbonate veins with copper sulphides at the 
Larras Lee prospect (Fig 9).

No encouraging results were returned from the shallow 
drillingprograms atShadesRoad orLarras Leebutadditional
work will be carried out based on new geophysical data.

At the Hayshed prospect reconnaissance work, designed 
to follow-up narrow anomalous gold grades, has 
encountered an intersection of 28 g/t gold over two metres 
and systematic drilling is planned for this prospect.

Future Plans and Activities
The second half of 2006 will see delivery of the updated 
resource estimate, new optimised pit designs using a 

range of cost and grade assumptions and completion of the 
Scoping Study.  This will be followed by commencement 
of the Pre-feasibility Study.  Drilling will continue into 
2007 with the aim of having 50m x 50m, and 50m x 30m 

Figure 9.  Regional Geology

Figure 8.  Longitudinal Section 4900E

No encouraging results were returned from the shallow 
drilling programs at Shades Road or Larras Lee but 
additional work will be carried out based on new
geophysical data.

Recent mapping identified a tonalitic intrusion containing 
quartz-carbonate veins with copper sulphides at the 
Larras Lee prospect (Fig 9).

At the Hayshed prospect reconnaissance work, designed 
to follow-up narrow anomalous gold grades, has 
encountered an intersection of 28 g/t gold over two metres 
and systematic drilling is planned for this prospect.
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drill spacing, allowing conversion from Inferred to JORC-
compliant Indicated or, in part, Measured status.

Drill targets at Copper Hill North, Larras Lee, Wattle Hill 
and Hayshed will also be drilled and initial testing of 
new anomalies identified in the airborne survey will be 
undertaken.

Metallurgical testing will continue throughout 2007 to 
refine the crushing – grinding - flotation circuit and to 
gather data for the feasibility studies.

Efforts in 2007 will focus on those areas highlighted in 
the Scoping Study.  This includes a complete review of 
the options with regard to water and potential plant and 
infrastructure locations

All these efforts will feed data into the Bankable Feasibility 
Study scheduled for completion in late 2007.

OTHER PROJECTS
Canbelego
GCR’s property is host to a number of prospects which 
have been the subject of modern mineral exploration for 
both gold and base metals.  GCR has recently focused 
activities on the Canbelego area in the northern part 
of the licence where the historic Mt Boppy Gold Mine 
produced approximately 14,026 kilograms of gold at an 
average grade of 12 g/t gold.  Given the structural and 
stratigraphic setting of these prospects GCR believes 
there is very strong potential for discovery of high-grade 
gold mineralisation.

Work to date by GCR has delineated a number of 
zones of gold and copper mineralisation in a district 
which has a history of high grade gold and base metal 
production.  Shallow scout drilling has returned a number 
of encouraging intersections that require follow-up.  The 
500,000 oz gold producer, Mt Boppy, over which GCR has 
a 3% royalty, lies in the centre of GCR’s area of interest 
and provides impetus for further exploration.

Broken Hill
GCR  holds, in its own right, over 390 square kilometres 
of ground near Broken Hill.

The Broken Hill region, known geologically as the 
Curnamona Province, is host to what was the largest 
silver-lead-zinc deposit of its kind in the world.  It also 
contains prospects containing nickel-copper-platinum-
palladium mineralisation and shear-hosted and iron 
oxide-related copper-gold mineralisation.

GCR has built an extensive geological and geophysical 
database that it has used to explore for mineralisation by 
geological mapping, prospecting, sampling and drilling.

This database has been provided to GCR’s joint venturers, 
JOGMEC from Japan and Inco Australia, which have 
farmed into separate sections of the Exploration Licence. 
These companies will actively explore the tenement 
through 2006 and into 2007.

Adelong
The Adelong Gold Project and adjacent tenements have 
been offered for sale by tender and an Information 
Memorandum has been prepared and distributed to 
interested parties.

Figure 10.  Drilling at Copper Hill

Figure 11.  Drilling at Canbelego

Figure 12.  Outcrops at Broken HillFigure 12.  Outcrops at Broken Hill
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Cargo
GCR’s Cargo project lies 12 km west of the Cadia-
Ridgeway copper-gold deposit.  It is located within 
prospective Ordovician volcanics, part of the Lachlan Fold 
Belt, which contain several porphyry-related copper-gold 
deposits including Cadia - Ridgeway, Northparkes and 
Copper Hill. 

Cargo was originally a small gold-mining centre where 
gold was won from both alluvial and quartz lodes.  In 
the 1960s the project was recognised as a porphyry 
copper system where copper and gold are associated 
with intrusive rocks. Analogies were made with the large 
porphyry copper deposits in the SW of the USA. 

Drilling by a variety of companies at this time produced 
broad, but low grade mineralised intersections.  GCR 
became involved in the project in 1996 and drill-defined
an inferred resource of 3.7 million tonnes at a grade of 
1.24 g/t gold. At that time the company also undertook 
extensive geological studies which indicated the presence 
of a large, concentrically zoned hydrothermal and 
mineralogical system truncated to the west by a major 
north-south striking thrust fault system. 

The Cargo porphyry system is concentric and is 
characterised by a core zone of intrusive rocks enriched 
in copper and molybdenum and an outer, arcuate zone 
of magnetic and pyritic volcanic rocks containing gold-
bearing quartz veins. The rocks are of a slightly older 
age than those at Cadia-Ridgeway but lie in a similar 
geological setting. 

Parkes
The Parkes exploration licence straddles the southern 
part of the Tomingley-Parkes-Forbes goldfield which 
historically produced in excess of 1 million ounces of 
gold.

The property lies over the section of the Newell Highway 
that links the town of Parkes to Forbes, approximately 
300 km west of Sydney on the central west slopes of 
NSW. A portion of Parkes is subject to a 1% net smelter 
return (nsr) royalty to Sipa and Michelago. 

Gold mineralisation occurs in numerous prospects 
throughout both licences commonly located in fault zones 
between sedimentary and volcanic rocks. This setting 

is identical to that which hosts Alkane’s Wyoming One 
deposit about 14 km north of Peak Hill. Gold was mined 
from mining leases in the 1980’s at the London-Victoria 
mine (inside the exploration licence but excluded from 
GCR tenure). 

The discovery of the Wyoming One deposit by Alkane 
and significant results from drilling at the Alectown East 
project (Newcrest and Compass JV) further to the north, 
gives encouragement that the belt may re-emerge as a 
gold producing province. In both projects mineralisation 
is related to intrusive rocks.  The property is available for 
farm-in.

Wagga Tank
GCR’s Wagga Tank Exploration Licence is 100% owned. 
It is located in the southern part of the Cobar Trough 
in an area of intermixed volcanic and sedimentary rock 
intruded by later granites and porphyries.  The licence 
hosts numerous mineral occurrences, old prospects and 
an historical gold mine, and has been the focus of modern 
mineral exploration activities since the early 1970s.  Most 
work to date has focused on six main prospects – Wagga 
Tank, BMW, Fenceline, Blue Mountain, Siegals and the 
Mount Allen Gold Mine.

Zinifex Australia has farmed into the project and will 
conduct exploration throughout 2006 and 2007.

West Wyalong
GCR’s West Wyalong property is located over the township 
of the same name in central NSW some 430 kilometres 
west of Sydney. GCR owns the property 100%, subject to 
a 2.5% net smelter return royalty to Barrick Australia.

The West Wyalong gold field has historic production of high 
grade gold recorded at more than 440,000 ounces prior 
to 1920.  The discoveries of the Cowal Deposit (in excess 
of 2.5 million ounces) 30 km to the north and Marsden 
(115 million tonnes at 0.4% copper and 0.15 g/t gold) 20 
kilometres to the northeast provide encouragement that 
large intrusion/volcanic-related hydrothermal systems 
exist in the area. This, in addition to the discoveries 
at Cadia, near Orange, and Northparkes, near Parkes 
showed that this area in NSW is highly prospective for 
copper and gold. 

Figure 12.  Cargo porphyry system 

Figure 13.  West Wyalong geology

8

Parkes
The Parkes exploration licence straddles the southern 
part of the Tomingley-Parkes-Forbes gold  eld which 
historically produced in excess of 1 million ounces of 
gold.

The property lies over the section of the Newell Highway 
that links the town of Parkes to Forbes, approximately 
300 km west of Sydney on the central west slopes of 
NSW. A portion of Parkes is subject to a 1% net smelter 
return (nsr) royalty to Sipa and Michelago. 

Gold mineralisation occurs in numerous prospects 
throughout both licences commonly located in fault zones 
between sedimentary and volcanic rocks. This setting 

Figure 12.  Cargo porphyry system 
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The property, one of the best in the GCR portfolio is 
available for farm-in and potential partners are invited 
to participate.

Holbrook
GCR holds  EL 6491 of approximately 250 square kilometres 
which includes the Holbrook Quarry Molybdenite Prospect 
and other Moybdenum occurences. The town of Holbrook 
lies on the Hume Highway between Albury and Gundagai 
in south-central New South Wales.The town lies near the 
western edge of the EL which extends about 18 km to 
the east and a similar distance north-south. Previous 
work has been cursory and no rigorous, well-directed 
Molbdenum exploration has been reported in the district. 
In 1910 molybdenite was found  in quartz veins in granite 
of the Coocook Range over a 3.8 km zone striking N-S 
about 2.5 km east of Holbrook.  GCR has offered the 
project to potential farm-in partners

Kempfield
Kempfield is located 29 kilometres due south of Blayney 
and 57 kilometres south-southeast of Orange in the 
headwaters of Rocky Bridge Creek. It is accessed by 9 
kilometres of unsealed all weather road from the town of 
Trunkey Creek in the Evans Shire, New South Wales.

The exploration property is 100% GCR owned, while two 
small mining leases in Quarries zone are held by GCR and 
the Henry brothers respectively.

A resource of 3.72 million tonnes containing 11.4 million 
ounces of silver and 975,000 tonnes of barite has been 
identified.  Potential partners are invited to participate in 
this project.

Sunny Corner
The Sunny Corner property is located near the town of 
Sunny Corner some 30 km from Lithgow in NSW.  Modern 
mineral exploration has focused on the very high grade 
massive sulphides historically mined at Sunny Corner, 
where initially gold (12,000 ounces), then silver were 
extracted, with copper, lead and zinc largely going to 
waste at grades of up to 30% combined metal.  The 
original mine produced approximately 3.5 million ounces 
of silver.  Gold grades were reported to be in the order 
of 4.5 g/t. In terms of gold-equivalent at today’s gold 

and silver prices this amounts to about 10 g/t gold-
equivalent.

Geological evidence suggests that the old mine is hosted 
in a very large zone of crustal deformation and that 
faults within this zone exert considerable control on the 
distribution of ore minerals. GCR’s focus on structural 
controls on mineralisation opens up many more 
opportunities for discovery of new mineralised zones 

compared to the stratigraphic (VHMS) model previously 
considered.  The property is available for farm-in.

Breadalbane
The Breadalbane Exploration Licence is located about 
20km due west of Goulburn in south eastern New South 
Wales. The project area contains the geological elements 
required to host volcanic-related massive sulphide 
deposits similar to the de-commissioned Woodlawn Cu-
Pb-Zn deposit which lies 25 kilometres to the south

GCR has collected a considerable quantity of exploration 
data, including 13,000 soil geochemistry samples, over 
250 line kilometres of IP surveys, more than 150 drill hole 
locations and 4,100 rock chip and drill sample assays. 
These have been compiled from exploration reports 
covering the period of modern exploration from the late 
1960’s.

There are zones of sulphide mineralisation locally 
associated with significant gold occurring within the 
licence area and  GCR has identified a number of prospects 
it considers require further exploration.  This tenement is 
available for farm-out.

Figure 15.  Historical mining area Sunny Corner

Figure 14.  Kempfield geology

Figure 15.  Historical mining area at Sunny Corner

.
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ROYALTIES
GCR holds five royalties, as follows:

Mt Boppy

GCR holds a 3% outturn royalty over the Mt Boppy Gold 
Mine, with 5% of the royalty payable to the previous Mt 
Boppy tenement holders.

Gold production from the open pit operations at Mt 
Boppy ceased in January 2006, while owner Polymetals 
investigated the economics of mining a deeper “life of 
mine” pit.  In May 2006 Polymetals lodged Mining Lease 
Application 281, with the aim of producing at least 50,000 
ounces of gold over the next few years at Mt Boppy

As announced to the ASX on 13 May 2005, GCR holds 
Exploration Licence 5842 (216 sq km) surrounding 
Mt Boppy.  GCR has consented to MLA 281 covering 
approximately 1.5 sq km of EL 5842 adjacent to Mt 
Boppy, for which it has received $32,000 compensation 
from Polymetals.

Golden Cross’ minimum royalty entitlement from Mt 
Boppy is 750 ounces, payable at a rate of 50 ounces per 
month in the event that production ceases at Mt Boppy 
for a period of 6 months.  These payments are rebateable 
against the royalty from future production.  Approximately 
150 ounces have been received to date, leaving a balance 
of approximately 600 ounces, with monthly payments of 
50 ounces due to commence in August 2006.

In summary, GCR will receive 95% of approximately 600 
ounces from Mt Boppy during 2006/2007, rebateable 
against the 3% gross royalty from future production at 
Mt Boppy, hoped to be in excess of 1,500 ounces, worth 
over $1 million at today’s prices.

Wyoming One

GCR holds a 90% interest in the area of the former 
McPhails Mining Lease, and a royalty of up to 5% net 
smelter return over the remainder of EL 5830, held by 
Alkane Exploration Limited.  Ten percent of the royalty is 
payable to Metallic Resources Pty Ltd.  EL 5830 contains 
the southern portion of the Wyoming One gold resource 
of over 500,000 ounces, presently under pre-feasibility 
study by Alkane.  Wyoming One is situated near the town 
of Tomingley, NSW.

Details of the royalty are $0.75 per tonne for the first 0.5 
Mt, then 3% net smelter return up to 150,000 oz of gold 
production, then 5% net smelter return.

BrightStar

GCR holds a 2% gross royalty over former E38/970, 
which contains the southeastern part of the 2 km long 
BrightStar Alpha Area owned by A1 Minerals Limited.  The 
combined BrightStar Alhpa and BrightStar Beta deposits 
are presently under feasibility study.  BrightStar is located 
near Laverton in WA.

Yellow Mountain

GCR holds a 2% net smelter return royalty over former EL 
5721 “Yellow Mountain”, in addition to a 30% participating 
interest in the Yellow Mountain exploration joint venture 
with Triako Resources Limited, now controlled by CBH 
Resources Limited.  Yellow Mountain lies 20 km to the 
west of the Triako’s Mineral Hill Mine, NSW.

Excellence in Exploration and Mining Conference

GCR holds a 20% non-participating interest and a 3% 
gross royalty in the Excellence in Mining & Exploration 
Conference (incorporating the former GCR NSW Miners 
and Explorers Conference convened by GCR in 2003 and 
2004).  This year the conference will be held at the Hilton 
Hotel in Sydney, from 8 to 10 October 2006 (Fig 15).

The conference is now run by London-based Mining 
Communications (publisher of Mining Magazine, Mining 
Journal and other publications) and Perth-based Aspermont 
(publisher of MiningNews.net, Resource Stocks and 
other publications).  It is the aim of the three owners to 
ultimately make this Sydney-based conference Australia’s 
answer to Canada’s huge international Prospectors and 
Developers conference, based in Toronto.

Figure 16.  2006 EME Conference Flyer

Excellence in Mining & Exploration Conference
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PEOPLE AT GCR
Directors
Christopher Ryan, Chairman - c.ryan@goldencross.com.au
Non-executive Chairman since 2003.  BEcon, MBA, FAusIMM.  Principal of Westchester Corporate Finance, a corporate 
advisory business lwith a focus on the resources sector.  Formerly Director, Corporate Finance Division, Schroders 
Australia Limited.  Extensive experience in providing financial and corporate advice to mining and petroleum companies 
and as a director and chairman of listed public companies in the mining and petroleum industries.  He is Chairman of 
Blue Ensign Technologies Limited (director since 2002), a director of Bentley International Limited (since 2003) and 
Scarborough Equities Limited (since 2004).

Kim Stanton-Cook, Managing Director - kim@goldencross.com.au

Managing Director since 1 March 2006.  BA (Geology and Geophysics), MAIG, GSA, ASEG, SEG.  Geologist with 
over 30 years’ experience.  Held senior managements roles with major companies, including Getty Oil, Delta Gold, 
where he was involved in the discovery and proving up of the Kanowna Belle Gold Mine, and Otter Gold Mines Group. 
Involved in mineral exploration and development for gold and others throughout Australia, North America, New 
Zealand, PNG, Southeast Asia and Zimbabwe.  In 1998 founded Millennium Minerals NL, with exploration interests in 
NSW, WA and Queensland and is now a subsidiary of CopperCo Ltd.

Kerry McHugh, Non Executive Director - kerry.mchugh@goldencross.com.au
Non-executive Director since 1998.  BCom (Hons).  Policy advisor to Australian and Papua New Guinean governments, 
1967 to 1987. Manager, Strategy and Planning, Pioneer International Limited, 1987 to 1991.  General Manager, 
Business Development, Plutonic Resources Ltd, 1991 to 1998.

David Timms, Non Executive Director - david.timms@goldencross.com.au
Non-executive Director since 1 March 2006.  BSc (Hons), PEng, FAIG, FAusIMM.  Formerly Managing Director, GCR, 
1994 - 2006.  Manager, Amoco Minerals Australia from 1972 to 1985. Exploration Manager, Cyprus Gold from 1985 
to 1990.  Managed teams that discovered 30 mineable deposits including Red Dome, Gidgee, Junction Reefs, Selwyn-
Starra, Moline, Mt McClure, Gold Ridge (Sol. Is) and Dinkidi (Phil.)

Chris Torrey, Non Executive Director - chris.torrey@optusnet.com.au
Non-executive Director since 10 February 2006.  MSc, MAIG, FSEG, RP Geo.  Formerly Director-Exploration, GCR, 
2003 – 2006 and Exploration Manager, 1996 – 2003.  Principal of geological consulting company CTEX Pty Ltd. 
Geologist with Cyprus Amax, 1986 to 1996, exploring in Australia, New Zealand, Central America and Indonesia. 
He has explored for copper-gold porphyries, porphyry-related skarns, epithermal-gold silver and shear-hosted gold 
systems

Daven Timms, Alternate Director to David Timms, CFO/Company Secretary - daven.timms@goldencross.com.au
Alternate Director to David Timms since 2003. BSc LLB (Hons), AMPLA, MAusIMM, FinSIA.  Formerly Executive 
Director, GCR, 1994 – 2003.  Solicitor with over 15 years’ experience.  Corporate Solicitor/Company Secretary, Delta 
Gold, from 1998 – 2001. Corporate Lawyer, AurionGold, 2002.  He provides legal and company secretarial services 
through his law firm, Resources Legal.

Exploration Team
Vladimir David, Senior Geologist - vladimir.david@goldencross.com.au
BSc (Hons), MAIG.  Vladimir has worked for the Geological Survey of Croatia, Coeur Gold, Pasminco and for the 
Geological Survey of New South Wales. His experience across Croatia, Slovenia, Switzerland, New Zealand and Eastern 
Australia covers a wide range of geological and metallogenic terrains including VMS, epithermal, MVT, mesothermal 
and porphyry copper-gold styles of mineralisation. 

Glenn Coianiz, Senior Geologist - glenn.coianiz@goldencross.com.au
BSc (Hons), Grad Dip Comm, MAIG, SEG.  Glenn joined GCR in April 2005.  Geological research at James Cook 
University, 1892 to 1986 looking at gold deposits in NQ.  Geological database management, resource modelling and 
IT roles 1986 to 1994 in both precious and base metals and mineral sands. Product Development Manager in mineral 
sands 1994 to 1998. Sales and management roles following and prior to joining GCR.

Paul Burrell, Project Geologist - burrell@westserv.net.au

Paul has 17 years experience in mineral exploration and resource drilling specifically with respect to Paleozoic 
porphyry systems in Eastern Australia. Prior to working for GCR he was working at the Northparkes porphyry copper-
gold deposit.  He is Golden Cross’ principal consultant on the Copper Hill Project.

Russell Blackall, Geologist, - russell.blackall@goldencross.com.au
Russell commenced a career in exploration with GCR, conducting drilling and surface geochemistry programs at 
various locations within the Lachlan Fold Belt including Canbelego, Gundagai and Adelong.  More recently he has been 
working on the Copper Hill porject full time.

Administration Team
Carl Hoyer, Accountant - carl.hoyer@goldencross.com.au
Carl joined GCR part time in 2000 with 15 years experience as an accountant. Previously worked in varying roles with 
CSR for 22 years.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Golden Cross Resources Ltd (“GCR”) and the entities it 
controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2006.

DIRECTORS
The following persons were Directors of GCR during the financial year and up to the date of this report:

Christopher Ryan

Kim Stanton-Cook (appointed 23 February 2006)

David Timms

Kerry McHugh

Chris Torrey

Daven Timms (Alternate Director for David Timms)

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity during the year consisted of minerals exploration and development of 
precious and base metals projects in Australia, primarily in NSW.  There were no significant changes in the nature of the Company’s 
activities during the year.

OBJECTIVE
The Company’s long-term objective is to participate in the discovery of one or more world-class mineral deposits.  The short-term
objective is to add value through exploration and development of mineral properties.  Value may be added through identifying and 
acquiring mineral properties in prospective locations, generating drill targets through sampling and geological modelling, delineating
resources, entering into beneficial farm-in arrangements with other companies or developing projects through to production to 
provide cash flow.  

The Company is presently focusing on its Copper Hill Project, and believes that the combination of low strip ratio, good metallurgy
and excellent infrastructure will support mining of the large, low grade, copper-gold resource.

DIVIDENDS
The Directors report that during the year ended 30 June 2006, no dividends were declared or paid.  The Directors of the Company
do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the financial year.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
The most significant developments in the Company’s operations and financing activities were as follows:

1. Copper Hill Resource established of 105 million tonnes at 0.33% copper and 0.33 g/t gold (inferred and indicated), using 
a 0.2% copper cutoff.  The resource contains, in-ground, 344,000 tonnes of copper and 1.12 million ounces of gold;

2. Copper Hill Drilling during the year established new zones of mineralisation, including a higher grade zone of copper-gold 
mineralisation at the Saddle Area.  The first drilling program consisted of around 15,000m of drilling, leading to the increased 
resource.  A second drilling program, consisting of 15,000m of extension and infill drilling, commenced in June 2006, using up 
to four drilling rigs.  The alteration zone at Copper Hill extends for over 5 km, and the drilling will test both new and known
prospects;

3. Canbelego 3% gross royalty over the Mt Boppy Gold Project was activated, and will apply to gold produced from the area 
of the Mining Lease Application submitted by Polymetals in May 2006.  Polymetals aims to produce at least 50,000 ounces 
from the expanded Mt Boppy Open Pit, of which Golden Cross will receive 3%;

4. Broken Hill property was farmed out in two parts, the northern area to JOGMEC and the southern area to Inco, both 
searching for nickel-platinum group metals accumulations; and

5. Fundraising through a partially-underwritten rights issue of shares and options in early 2006 raised $3.8 million, primarily 
for exploration work at Copper Hill.  If all of GCR’s quoted 5 cent options, exercisable by 30 September 2006, are exercised, 
the Company will raise over $5 million.

The Company has in 2006 recorded provisions against the carrying value of a number of exploration properties, to recognise the 
possibility that farm-in partners will not be found and the likelihood that carried forward expenditures will need to be written off.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 2006

Cents

2005

Cents

Basic and diluted earnings per share (0.16) (2.07)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year used in the calculation 
of basic earnings per share 278,768,216 196,971,977

CASH RESERVES
At 30 June 2006 the consolidated entity held cash reserves of $2,624,712.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity.
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MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
At the date of this report there are no matters that have arisen since 30 June 2006 that have significantly affected or may significantly
affect the operations of the consolidated entity in future financial years, the results of those operations in future financial years, or 
the state of affairs in future financial years of the consolidated entity.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The Company is concentrating on exploration and pre-development studies at its prospective Copper Hill property and is seeking to
farm-out a number of other properties.  In addition, the Adelong Gold Project has recently been offered for sale by way of tender.

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

Director Experience Special

Responsibility

Particulars of Directors’ 
Interest in Shares and Options 
of Parent Entity

Ordinary

Shares

Options

Christopher
Ryan

Non-executive Chairman since 2003.  BEcon, MBA, 
FAusIMM.  Principal of Westchester Corporate Finance, a 
corporate advisory business located in Sydney with a focus 
on the resources sector.  Formerly Director, Corporate 
Finance Division, Schroders Australia Limited.  Extensive 
experience in providing financial and corporate advice 
to mining and petroleum companies and as a director 
and chairman of listed public companies in the mining 
and petroleum industries.  He is also Chairman of Blue 
Ensign Technologies Limited (director since 2002), and 
a director of Bentley International Limited (since 2003) 
and Scarborough Equities Limited (since 2004).  He was a 
director of Bligh Ventures Limited from 2003 to 2006.

Non-executive 
Chairman,
Remuneration 
Committee
Chairman and 
Audit Committee 
member

1,457,500 1.0M 15c 
Director
Options,
2.25M 10c 
Employee 
Options

Kim Stanton-
Cook

Managing Director since 1 March 2006.  BA (Geology and 
Geophysics), MAIG, GSA, ASEG, SEG.  Geologist with over 
30 years’ experience.  Held senior managements roles with 
a number of major companies, including Getty Oil, Delta 
Gold, where he was involved in the discovery and proving 
up of the Kanowna Belle Gold Mine, and Otter Gold Mines 
Group.  Involved in mineral exploration and development 
for gold, base metals and uranium throughout Australia 
and North America, and has explored for a range of metals 
in New Zealand, PNG, Southeast Asia and Zimbabwe.  In 
1998 Kim founded Millennium Minerals NL, which holds 
exploration interests in NSW, WA and Queensland and is 
now a subsidiary of CopperCo Ltd.

Managing
Director

100,000 5.0M 8c 
Employee 
Options

Kerry McHugh Non-executive Director since 1998.  BCom (Hons). 
Policy advisor to Australian and Papua New Guinean 
governments, 1967 to 1987. Manager, Strategy and 
Planning, Pioneer International Limited, 1987 to 1991. 
General Manager, Business Development, Plutonic 
Resources Ltd, 1991 to 1998.

Non-executive 
Director, Audit 
Committee
Chairman and 
Remuneration 
Committee
member

1,253,261 1.0M 15c 
Director
Options,
392,569 5c 
options,
1.0M 10c 
Employee 
Options

David Timms Non-executive Director since 1 March 2006.  BSc (Hons), 
PEng, FAIG, FAusIMM.  Formerly Managing Director, 
GCR, 1994 - 2006.  Manager, Amoco Minerals Australia 
from 1972 to 1985. Exploration Manager, Cyprus Gold 
from 1985 to 1990.  Managed teams that discovered 30 
mineable deposits including Red Dome, Gidgee, Junction 
Reefs, Selwyn-Starra, Moline, Mt McClure, Gold Ridge 
(Sol. Is) and Dinkidi (Phil.)

Non-executive 
Director

24,693,489 1.5M 15c 
Director
Options,
8,169,574 5c 
options,
1.0M 10c 
Employee 
Options

DIRECTORS’ REPORT cont’d
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT cont’d
INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (Continued)

Director Experience Special

Responsibility

Particulars of Directors’ 
Interest in Shares and Options 
of Parent Entity

Ordinary

Shares

Options

Chris

Torrey

Non-executive Director since 10 February 2006.  MSc, 
MAIG, FSEG, RP Geo.  Formerly Director-Exploration, 
GCR, 2003 – 2006 and Exploration Manager, 1996 – 2003. 
Principal of geological consulting company CTEX Pty Ltd. 
Geologist with Cyprus Amax, 1986 to 1996, exploring in 
Australia, New Zealand, Central America and Indonesia. 
He has explored for copper-gold porphyries, porphyry-
related skarns, epithermal-gold silver and shear-hosted 
gold systems.

Non-executive 
Director

684,441 153,954 5c 
options, 2.12M 
10c Employee 
Options

Daven Timms Alternate Director to David Timms since 2003.  

BSc LLB (Hons), AMPLA, MAusIMM, FinSIA.  Formerly 
Executive Director, GCR, 1994 – 2003.  Solicitor with 
over 15 years’ experience.  Corporate Solicitor/Company 
Secretary, Delta Gold, from 1998 – 2001. Corporate 
Lawyer, AurionGold, 2002.  He provides legal and company 
secretarial services through his law firm, Resources 
Legal.

Alternate
Director to 
David Timms, 
Chief Financial 
Officer and 
Company 
Secretary

679,872 1.0M 15c 
Director
Options,
165,678 5c 
options,
1.5M 10c 
Employee 
Options

Notes:  *  Director Options are exercisable at 15 cents by 30 November 2006
 **  Employee Options are exerciseable at 8 cents or 10 cents (as indicated) by 31 March 2011.

The particulars of Directors’ interests in shares and options are as at the date of this report.

RETIREMENT AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
David Timms and Chris Torrey are retiring as Directors in accordance with the Company’s Constitution and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The number of meetings of the Company’s Directors (including meetings of committees of Directors) held during the year ended 30
June 2006, and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director were:

Name

Full Board 
Meetings

Held While a 
Director

Full Board 
Meetings

Attended While a 
Director

Audit and 
Remuneration*

Committee Meetings 
Held While a Member

Audit and Remuneration* 
Committee Meetings 

Attended While a Member

Christopher Ryan 14 14 4 (1) 4 (1)

Kim Stanton-Cook 4 4

David Timms 14 14 - -

Kerry McHugh 14 14 4 (1) 4 (1)

Chris Torrey 14 14 - -

Daven Timms 14 14 - -

Note: * Remuneration Committee Meeting statistics are shown in brackets.

REMUNERATION REPORT
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration

The Company’s aim is to remunerate at a level that will attract and retain high-calibre directors and employees.  Company officers
and directors are remunerated to a level consistent with the size of the Company.  All Directors may participate in the Share 
Acquisition Scheme and Employee Option Plan, which assist in the motivation and retention of Directors.

Directors’ Fees

The current base fees, last reviewed in March 2004, are $30,000 for a Non-executive Director and $40,000 for the Chairman.  These
are within the aggregate Directors Fee Pool Limit of $150,000 set at the 2002 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”).

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors are remunerated at a level appropriate to an exploration company the size of GCR.  Remuneration is 
set having regard to performance and relevant comparative information.  In addition to a base salary, remuneration packages 
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include superannuation, termination entitlements, fringe benefits and Employee Options.  Employee Options are issued, following 
a recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration Committee, in consideration of an employee’s efforts undertaken on behalf 
of the Company, and assist with the motivation and retention of employees.  The issue of options to Directors requires shareholder
approval.

Details of Remuneration

Details of the remuneration of each Director of Golden Cross Resources Ltd, including their personally-related entities, are set out 
in the following table.

Year ended 30.6.06

Name

Primary:
Salary/Fee

$

Post Employment:
Superannuation

$

Equity:
Shares*

$

Equity:
Options**

$

Total

$

Kim Stanton-Cook 46,667 4,200 - 25,350 76,217

Christopher Ryan 40,000 - - 11,048 51,048

Kerry McHugh 30,000 2,700 - 4,910 37,610

David Timms 76,990 10,250 40,000* 4,910 132,150

Chris Torrey 91,384 31,462 19,959 142,805

Daven Timms 89,520 - - 7,365 96,885

Total 374,561 48,612 40,000 73,542 536,715

Note: * During part of the 2006 financial year David Timms participated in the Company’s Employee Share Acquisition Scheme 
(SAS) through salary sacrifice, in the amount of $40,000 (1,052,631 shares, issued at 3.8 cents per share, the market value of the 
shares at the time of issue).  The above share issue was approved by shareholders at the 2005 AGM.

Note: ** The amounts disclosed above for equity remuneration relating to options are the assessed fair values of options at the date 
they were granted, allocated pro rata over the period between grant date and vesting date.  Fair values have been assessed using
the Black & Scholes option pricing model.  Factors taken into account by the model include the exercise price, term of the option,
share price on the date of grant and expected price volatility of the underlying share, expected dividend yield and risk-free interest
rate for the term of the option.  Vesting and any performance hurdles are not taken into account.  Employee options vest as follows:
Pre-November 2008 expiry dates: on date of grant, 0%; after 1 year, 10%; after 2 years, 25%; after 3 years, 45%, after 4 years 
70% and after 5 years 100%.  For expiry dates of November 2008 and beyond: on date of grant, 10%; after 1 year, 30%; after 
2 years, 60%; after 3 years, 100%.  A performance hurdle applying to a portion of Employee Options issued to Directors during 
the 2006 financial year is that 55% of the Company’s quoted options exercisable at 5 cents must be exercised.  The proportion of 
Options to which the performance hurdle applies is 30% in respect of Options issued to Kim Stanton-Cook; 33.3% for Christopher 
Ryan; and 50% for Kerry McHugh, Daven Timms, David Timms and Chris Torrey.  Employee Options held in the name of a related 
party nominee are included in the table under the name of the relevant officebearer.

Details of the remuneration, in the 2005 financial year, of each Director of Golden Cross Resources Ltd, including their personally-
related entities, are set out in the following table.

Year ended 30.6.05

Name

Primary:
Salary/Fee

$

Post Employment:
Superannuation

$

Equity:
Shares*

$

Equity:
Options**

$

Total

$

Christopher Ryan 40,000 - - - 40,000

Kerry McHugh 30,000 2,700 - - 32,700

David Timms 72,365 11,250 52,635* - 136,250

Chris Torrey 121,276 10,800 4,000* 13,453 149,529

Daven Timms 82,800 - - - 82,800

Total 346,441 24,750 56,635 13,453 441,279

Note: * During part of the 2005 financial year David Timms and Chris Torrey participated in the Company’s Employee Share 
Acquisition Scheme (SAS) through salary sacrifice, in the amount of $62,500 and $6,000 respectively (1,250,000 shares and 
120,000 shares, respectively, issued at 5 cents per share, the market value of the shares at the time of issue).  The above share
issues were approved by shareholders at the 2004 AGM.

Note: ** See “Note **” before above table.

Service Agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment for Executive Directors are formalised in written agreements.

Kim Stanton-Cook, Managing Director, is employed under a 12-month contract that commenced on 1 March 2006 and following the 
term will continue from year to year.  It provides for termination by either party on three months’ notice.  No termination benefits
are provided for in addition to statutory entitlements.  His salary, is $140,000 per annum plus superannuation and use of a Company 
four wheel drive vehicle.

Daven Timms, Company Secretary and Alternate Director, provides legal and company secretarial services to GCR through his law 
firm, Resources Legal Pty Ltd.  The consultancy deed is continuing on a month to month basis and provides for the supply of the 
services two days per week, including eight days paid time off per year, at the rate of $91,080 per annum plus GST.  The deed may 
be terminated by either party on three months’ notice.

There are no service agreements in place for the Non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT cont’d
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Share-based compensation – options

Director Options were granted for no consideration with approval of shareholders.  Employee Options were granted for no consideration 
under the GCR Employee Option Plan approved by shareholders at the 2003 AGM and March 2006 General Meeting.  Option holders 
have no rights to participate in new issues of shares.  When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.

Share-based Compensation – Share Acquisition Scheme

All Directors may participate in the GCR Employee Share Acquisition Scheme through salary sacrifice.  As detailed in the note below 
the remuneration table above, only David Timms participated during the financial year.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The auditor, Ernst & Young, has not provided any non-audit services to the Company.

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
The auditor’s declaration of independence immediately follows the Directors’ Declaration.  The Directors are satisfied as to the 
independence of the auditors.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

GCR’s 2006 Annual General Meeting is scheduled to be held in Sydney, NSW, on Wednesday 4 October 2006.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

The consolidated entity is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its exploration activities in gold and base 
metals.  The Company meets the standards set by the Australian Minerals Industry Code for Environmental Management.

The Company has developed criteria to determine areas of ‘particular’ or ‘significant’ importance, with regard to environmental 
performance.  These are graded 1 to 4 in terms of priority.

Level 1 incident major non-compliance with regulatory requirement resulting in potential public outcry and significant
environmental damage both long and short-term nature.

Level 2 incident significant non-compliance resulting in regulatory action, however environmental damage is only of a short-
term nature.

Level 3 incident minor non-compliance – no fine is imposed, however regulatory authority is notified.

Level 4 incident non-compliance with internal policies and procedures.  The incident is contained on-site.

In the last year no incidents have occurred.

INSURANCE OF OFFICERS

During the financial year Golden Cross Resources Ltd paid a premium to insure the Directors and other officers of the Company and 
its wholly owned subsidiary.  Under the terms of the policy the policy premium and policy liability cannot be disclosed.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS TO NEAREST THOUSAND DOLLARS

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the directors’ report and financial report.  Amounts in the directors’ report and financial
report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar, in accordance with that
Class Order.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young continues as the Company’s auditors.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Kim Stanton-Cook, Managing Director
Sydney, 2 August 2006

DIRECTORS’ REPORT cont’d
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The Company’s main corporate governance practices are set 
out below.  These practices are generally in line with the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council’s Best Practice Recommendations, 
with three exceptions noted.  Further information is available 
in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website 
www.goldencross.com.au

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board takes ultimate responsibility for corporate governance 
and operates in accordance with the following principles:

• the Board comprises a minimum of four Directors;

• not less than one half of the Board should be Non-
executive Directors;

• the Chairman should be an independent Non-executive 
Director who is elected by the full Board; and

• the Board should comprise Directors with a broad range 
of skills and experience relevant to the business of the 
Company.

The Board Charter is available on the Company’s website.  The 
Board considers that its composition provides for the timely 
and efficient decision-making required by the Company in its 
present circumstances.  The Company does not comply with 
Best Practice Recommendation 2.1, which recommends that a 
majority of the board should be independent directors;  David 
Timms and Chris Torrey are not considered to be independent 
Directors because three years has not elapsed since the cessation 
of their employment with the Company in an executive capacity 
in February 2006, and also in the case of David Timms because 
he is a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The Company’s independent Directors are Christopher Ryan, 
Chairman (appointed 2003) and Kerry McHugh, Non-executive 
Director (appointed 1998).  Relevant skills and experience of 
Directors are set out in the Directors’ Report and in the Corporate 
section of the website.

The performance of the Directors is subject to review by the 
Chairman.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee consists of the Company’s two independent 
Non-executive Directors, Kerry McHugh (Chairman) and 
Christopher Ryan, and thus does not comply with Best Practice 
Recommendation 4.3, which recommends that an audit 
committee have at least three members.

The purpose of the Audit Committee, as set out in the Charter 
posted on the website, is to:

• review and report to the Board on the annual report and 
financial statements

• provide assurance to the Board that it is receiving 
adequate, up to date and reliable information

• assist the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control environment covering:

• effectiveness and efficiency of operations

• reliability of financial reporting, and

• compliance with applicable laws and regulations
The Committee is also charged with the responsibility of 
recommending to the Board the appointment, removal and 
remuneration of the auditors, and reviewing the terms of their 
engagement, and the scope and quality of the audit.  Details 
of the procedures for the selection and appointment of the 
auditors, and for the rotation of the audit engagement partners, 
are posted on the website.

In fulfilling its responsibilities the Committee meets with the 
auditors at least four times each year and receives regular 
reports from management and the auditors.  The auditors have a 
clear line of direct communication at any time with the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the Board.  The 
auditor attends annual general meetings of the Company to 
answer questions about the audit.

The Committee has authority, within the scope of its 
responsibilities, to seek any information it requires from any 
employee or external party, and to obtain external legal or other 

independent professional advice.  The Committee also requires 
the Managing Director and Company Secretary to sign off on the 
Company’s financial reports and the soundness of the Company’s 
risk management and internal compliance and control systems.

The Committee reports to the full Board after each Committee 
meeting and Audit Committee minutes are provided to all 
Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee consists of the Non-executive 
Directors, Christopher Ryan (Chairman) and Kerry McHugh. 
Company officers and directors are remunerated to a level 
consistent with the size of the Company.  The Golden Cross 
Employee Share Acquisition Scheme and Employee Option 
Plan, approved by shareholders in 2005 and 2006 respectively, 
assist with motivating and retaining Company employees.  Non-
executive Directors receive a director’s fee and can participate 
in both the Scheme and the Plan.

The Committee reports to the full Board after each Committee 
meeting and Remuneration Committee minutes are provided to 
all Directors.

NOMINATION POLICY
The Company does not comply with Best Practice Recommendation 
2.4, as the Board believes that a Nomination Committee is not 
warranted by a company the size of Golden Cross.  In effect, 
the full Board acts as the Nomination Committee.  The Board’s 
Nomination Policy is posted on the website.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company has established a Risk Management Policy, which 
is posted on the website.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE
Directors have the right, in connection with their duties and 
responsibilities as Directors, to seek independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense.  Prior written approval of the 
Chairman is required, which will not be unreasonably withheld.

CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE POLICY
The Company has written policies and procedures on information 
disclosure that focus on continuous disclosure of any information 
concerning the Company and its controlled entities that a 
reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the 
price of the Company’s securities.  The Company’s Continuous 
Disclosure Policy is posted on the website.

All information disclosed to ASX is immediately posted on 
the website and emailed to those persons who have supplied 
their email address.  When analysts are briefed on aspects 
of the Company’s operations, the material to be used in the 
presentation is released to ASX and posted on the website.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION RULES
The Company has in place written Securities Transaction 
Rules.  These are binding on Directors, officers and employees 
of the Company and prohibit trading in GCR securities while 
in possession of price-sensitive information.  The Company 
Secretary, Managing Director or Chairman, as required, must 
be notified of trading in GCR securities and the securities of the 
Company’s joint venture partners.  The Securities Transaction 
Rules are posted on the website.

CORPORATE CONDUCT
The Board has adopted policies on Ethics, Safety & Health, and 
the Environment.  These policies seek to foster high standards 
of conduct and integrity among GCR employees, officers and 
Directors.  The policies are posted on the website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
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INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

Notes
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

Revenue 2 289 229 122 97
Exploration expense 3 (239) (4,042) - -
General and administrative expenses 3 (506) (296) (1,325) (4,327)

Loss before tax and finance costs (456) (4,105) (1,203) (4,230)
Finance costs - - - -

Loss before income tax (456) (4,105) (1,203) (4,230)

Income tax expense 4 - - - -

Loss after tax (456) (4,105) (1,203) (4,230)

Net loss attributable to members of Golden Cross 
Resources Ltd

(456) (4,105) (1,203) (4,230)

EARNINGS PER SHARE 2006

Cents

2005

Cents

Basic earnings (loss) per share (cents) 25 (0.16) (2.08)

Diluted earning (loss) per share (cents) (0.16) (2.08)

The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



19GOLDEN CROSS RESOURCES LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2006

BALANCE SHEET
as at 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

Notes
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash assets 5 2,625 1,808 2,607 1,789

Other 6 359 382 40 40

2,984 2,190 2,647 1,829

Mine Property held for Sale 8b 4,169 - - -

Total Current Assets 7,153 2,189 2,647 1,829

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 7 - - 15,799 12,943

Investments 21 - - - -

Plant and Equipment 8a 222 590 115 115

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 8a 12,697 9,235 - -

Mine Property 8a - 3,441 - -

Intangibles 9 - 7 - -

Total Non-Current Assets 12,919 13,273 15,914 13,058

Total Assets 20,072 15,463 18,561 14,887

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 10 402 190 45 50

Provisions 11 36 36 - -

438 226 45 50

Provisions – Mine Property Held for Sale 12b 140 - - -

Total Current Liabilities 578 226 45 50

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 12a - 197 - -

Total Non-Current Liabilities 28 197 - -

Total Liabilities 606 423 45 50

Net Assets 19,466 15,040 18,516 14,837

EQUITY

Issued capital 13 30,238 25,434 30,238 25,434

Reserves 14(a) 1,921 1,843 728 650

Accumulated losses (12,693) (12,237) (12,450) (11,247)

TOTAL EQUITY 19,466 15,040 18,516 14,837

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2006

Issued Capital
Share-based

Compensation
Reserve

Other
Reserves

Accumulated
Losses Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated

As at 1 July 2004 23,797 21 1,792 (8,132) 17,478

Loss for the period - - - (4,105) (4,105)

Total income and expense for period - - - (4,105) (4,105)

Share Issues 1,569 - - - 1,569

Shares issued under SAS 68 - - - 68

Employee Options - 30 - - 30

As at 30 June 2005 25,434 51 1,792 (12,237) 15,040

Consolidated

As at 1 July 2005 25,434 51 1,792 (12,237) 15,040

Loss for the period - - - (456) (456)

Total income and expense for period - - - (456) (456)

Share Issues 4,764 - - - 4,764

Shares issued under SAS 40 - - - 40

Employee Options - 78 - - 78

As at 30 June 2006 30,238 129 1,792 (12,693) 19,466

Parent

As at 1 July 2004 23,797 21 599 (7,017) 17,400

Loss for the period - - - (4,230) (4,230)

Total income and expense for period - - - (4,230) (4,230)

Share Issues 1,569 - - - 1,569

Shares issued under SAS 68 - - - 68

Employee Options - 30 - - 30

As at 30 June 2005 25,434 51 599 (11,247) 14,837

Parent

As at 1 July 2005 25,434 51 599 (11,247) 14,837

Loss for the period - - - (1,203) (1,203)

Total income and expense for period - - - (1,203) (1,203)

Share Issues 4,764 - - - 4,764

Shares issued under SAS 40 - - - 40

Employee Options - 78 - - 78

As at 30 June 2006 30,238 129 599 (12,450) 18,516
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

Notes
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments to suppliers and employees (391) (671) (250) (126)

Payments for exploration and evaluation (3,792) (1,873) - -

Interest received 128 106 113 97

Other, including receipts from farm-in partners 161 123 - -

Net cash outflow from operating activities 23 (3,894) (2,315) (137) (29)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for plant and equipment (53) (16) - -

Loan to controlled entity - - (3,809) (2,305)

Net cash outflow from investing activities (53) (16) (3,809) (2,305)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from the issue of shares 4,764 1,569 4,764 1,569

Net cash inflow from financing activities 4,764 1,569 4,764 1,569

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH HELD 817 (762) 818 (765)

Cash at beginning of the reporting period 1,808 2,570 1,789 2,554

CASH AT END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 5 2,625 1,808 2,607 1,789

Non cash financing activities 24

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards.  It has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for land and 
buildings, which have been measured at fair value.

(b) Statement of compliance

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“AIFRS”).  Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and 
notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

This is the first financial report prepared based on AIFRS, and comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2005 have been restated 
accordingly.  Reconciliations of AIFRS equity and profit for 30 June 2005 to the balances reported in the 30 June 2005 financial
report and at transition to AIFRS are detailed in Note 26.

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Golden Cross Resources Ltd (“Golden Cross” or the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) as at 30 June each year.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies.

All intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses resulting from intra-group transactions have 
been eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred out of the Group.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

 • plant and equipment - 4 years; and

 • motor vehicles - 5 years

Impairment

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may not be recoverable. 

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal. 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the item) is included in the income statement in the period the item is derecognised.

(e) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

(f) Intangible assets 

Acquired both separately and from a business combination

Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost and from a business combination are capitalised at fair value as at the 
date of acquisition.  Following initial recognition, the cost model is applied to the class of intangible assets.

The useful lives of these intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Where amortisation is charged on assets with finite lives, this expense is taken to the income statement through the “administrative 
expenses” line item.

Intangible assets, excluding development costs, created within the business are not capitalised and expenditure is charged against
profits in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists, and in the case of indefinite life intangibles 
annually, either individually or at the cash generating unit level.  Useful lives are also examined on an annual basis and adjustments,
where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

(g) Recoverable amount of assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  Where an indicator of
impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

(h) Investments

All investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and including acquisition charges
associated with the investment.

After initial recognition, investments, which are classified as held for trading and available-for-sale, are measured at fair value. 
Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the income statement.

Gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is sold,
collected or otherwise disposed of, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously reported in equity is included in the income statement.

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when the 
Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not 
included in this classification.

Other long-term investments that are intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (for the year ended 30 June 2006)
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Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, over the period to maturity.

For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in income when the investments are derecognised or 
impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

For investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to Stock Exchange 
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.

For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of another
instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of 
the investment.

Purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or 
convention in the market place are recognised on the trade date, being the date that the Group commits to purchase the asset.

(i) Exploration, evaluation, development and restoration costs

Exploration & Evaluation

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Company is accumulated separately for each area of interest.
Such expenditure comprises net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead expenditure, but does not include 
general overheads or administrative expenditure not having a specific connection with a particular area of interest.

Exploration and evaluation costs in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current are brought to account 
in the year in which they are incurred and carried forward provided that:

• such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area, or alternatively 
through its sale; or

• exploration and/or evaluation activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment 
of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves.

Once a development decision has been taken, all past and future exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of the area of
interest is aggregated within costs of development.

Exploration & Evaluation - Impairment

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset has been impaired and for exploration and
evaluation cost whether the above carry forward criteria are met.

Accumulated costs in respect of areas of interest are written off or a provision made in the Income Statement when the above criteria
do not apply or when the directors assess that the carrying value may exceed the recoverable amount.  The costs of productive areas
are amortised over the life of the area of interest to which such costs relate on the production output basis.

Provisions are made where farm-in partners are sought and there is a possibility that carried-forward expenditures may have to 
be written off in the future if a farm-in partner is not found.  In the event that farm-in agreements are reached or the Company
undertakes further exploration in its own right on those properties, the provisions would be reviewed and if appropriate, written
back.

Development

Development expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Company is accumulated separately for each area of interest in which 
economically recoverable reserves have been identified to the satisfaction of the directors.  Such expenditure comprises net direct 
costs and, in the same manner as for exploration and evaluation expenditure, an appropriate portion of related overhead expenditure
having a specific connection with the development property.

All expenditure incurred prior to the commencement of commercial levels of production from each development property is carried
forward to the extent to which recoupment out of revenue to be derived from the sale of production from the relevant development
property, or from the sale of that property, is reasonably assured.

No amortisation is provided in respect of development properties until a decision has been made to commence mining.  After this
decision, the costs are amortised over the life of the area of interest to which such costs relate on a production output basis.

Restoration

Provisions for restoration costs are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Remaining Mine Life

In estimating the remaining life of the mine at each mine property for the purpose of amortisation and depreciation calculations,
due regard is given not only to the volume of remaining economically recoverable reserves but also to limitations which could arise
from the potential for changes in technology, demand, product substitution and other issues that are inherently difficult to estimate 
over a lengthy time frame.

(j) Mine Property Held for Sale

Where the carrying amount of mine property and related assets will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use, the assets are reclassified as Mine Property Held for Sale and carried at the lower of the assets’ carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell - where such fair value can be reasonably reliably determined, and otherwise at its carrying
amount.  Liabilities and provisions related to mine property held for sale are similarly reclassified to Liabilities - Mine Property Held 
for Sale and  Provisions - Mine Property Held for Sale, as applicable, and carried at the value at which the liability or provision is 
expected to be settled. 

(k) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 5-30 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for 
any uncollectible amounts.

An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.  Bad debts are written off when
identified.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS cont’d
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(l) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less. 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts, if any.

(m) Other provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement 
is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is
presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks 
specific to the liability 

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

(n) Employee leave benefits

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date.
They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave 
are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

(ii) Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit
credit method.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods
of service.  Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with
terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(o) Pensions and other post-employment benefits

The Group contributes to defined contribution superannuation funds for employees.  The cost of these contributions are expensed 
as incurred.

(p) Share-based payment transactions 

In addition to salaries, the Group provides benefits to certain employees (including directors) of the Group in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled 
transactions”).

There are currently two plans in place to provide these benefits:
• the Employee Share Acquisition Scheme; and

• the Employee Option Plan.

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted.  The fair value of the options is determined by using the Black & Scholes option pricing model.

In valuing transactions settled by way of issue of options, no account is taken of any vesting limits or hurdles, or the fact that the 
options are not transferable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 
vesting conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting 
period).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 
No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included
in the determination of fair value at grant date.  The income statement charge or credit for a period represents the movement in
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional upon a market 
condition.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 
modified.  In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment 
arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of the cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised is recognised immediately.  However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated a replacement
award on the date it is granted, the cancelled an new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as 
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share 

except where such dilution would serve to reduce a loss per share..

(q) Leases 

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(r) Revenue 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 
reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised. 
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Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Royalties

Royalties are recognised in accordance with substance of the relevant agreement.

(s) Income tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:

• except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 
ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised:

• except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 
joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences 
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

(t) Other taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

• where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financial activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

(u) Currency

The functional and presentation currency for the Group is Australian dollars ($).

(v) Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any such indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets 
and the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value.  In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as 
part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs.  When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  Impairment losses relating to 
continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset unless the asset
is carried at revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease).

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses
may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognised.  If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount.  The increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried 
at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal the depreciation charge
is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its 
remaining useful life.
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2. REVENUE
CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Revenue from operating activities
Exploration rights - - - -
Total Operating Revenue - - - -

Revenue from outside the operating activities
Interest Received/Receivable 128 106 113 97
Other Revenue 161 123 9 -
Total Non-operating Revenue 289 229 122 97
Total Revenue 289 229 122 97

3.  OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)

Loss from ordinary activities before income tax includes the following specific gains and expenses:

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
GAINS AND EXPENSES

Exploration expense
Depreciation
 Plant and equipment 44 42 - -
Amortisation/Write off
 Goodwill 7 - -
Exploration and Evaluation
 Capitalised expenditure written off 739 2,713 - 1
 Carrying amount of disposal in joint venture - 112 - -
 Provision for diminution of exploration properties (631) 1,099 - -
Operating Lease
 Rental expense 80 76 - -

239 4,042 - 1
General & administrative expenses
Other charges against assets
 Write-down of inter-company loan receivable - - 1,062 4,200
Other items
 Employee entitlements 83 94 - -
 Audit fees 42 28 42 18
 Insurance 46 48 46 48
 Inventory written off - 19 - -
 Stock exchange fees 33 31 33 31
 Other 302 76 142 30

506 296 1,325 4,327

4.  INCOME TAX

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

4A - The components of income tax expense are as follows:

Current tax - - - -
Deferred tax - - - -
Underprovision for previous years - - - -

Total - - - -

(i) The parent entity and the Group are not tax consolidated.

(ii) The parent entity and each of the subsidiaries are in tax loss for the year and have substantial tax losses carried forward.

(iii) The Directors are of the view that there is insufficient probability that the parent entity and its subsidiaries will derive 
sufficient income in the foreseeable future to justify booking the tax losses and temporary differences as deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities.

 CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
4B - Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie 
tax payable is as follows:

Profit (loss) from operations before income tax expense (456) (4,105) (1,203) (4,230)
Tax at Australian tax rate of 30% (2005 also at 30%) (137) (1,232) (361) (1,269)
Tax effect of non-temporary differences 342 - 342 (1,260)
Tax effect of equity raising costs debited to equity (24) (29) (24) (29)
Over or underprovision from previous years - - - -

Tax effect of tax losses and temporary differences not recognised 181 1,261 43 2,558

Income tax expense - - - -
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4C - There is no amount of tax benefit recognised in equity, as the tax effect of temporary differences has not been booked.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
4D – Tax Losses

Unused tax losses for which no tax loss has been booked as a 
deferred tax asset 

19,319 14,952 1,188 1,056

Potential benefit at 30% 5,796 4,486 356 317

The benefit of income tax losses will only be obtained if:

(i) the respective companies derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount to enable the benefit from the 
deductions for the losses to be realised; 

(ii) the respective companies continue to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and

(iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the respective companies in realising benefit from the deductions from the 
losses.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
4E – Unrecognised (non-booked) temporary tax differences

Non deductible amounts as temporary differences (238) (108) (25) (15)

Accelerated deductions for book compared to tax 8,427 7,768 - -

Total 8,189 7,661 (25) (15)

Potential effect on future tax expense 2,457 2,298 (8) (4)

5.  CURRENT ASSETS – Cash assets

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Cash at bank and on hand 25 58 7 39
Deposits at call (a) 2,600 1,750 2,600 1,750

2,625 1,808 2,607 1,789

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial
year as shown in the statement of cash flows as follows:

Balances as above 2,625 1,808 2,607 1,789
Balances per statement of cash flows 2,625 1,808 2,607 1,789

Deposits at call

(a) The deposits are bearing variable interest rates that at year-end were 5.25% (2005: 5.00%).

6.  CURRENT ASSETS - Other

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Prepayments 57 80 40 40
Security deposits (a) 302 302 - -

359 382 40 40

(a) Security deposits are required by government legislation as a prerequisite to exploration.

The deposits are bearing floating interest rates between 4.60% and 5.30% (2005 between 4.90% and 5.65%).

7.  NON-CURRENT ASSETS - Receivables

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Amounts owed by controlled entities - - 15,799 12,943

- - 15,799 12,943

See Note 20 for further details.
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8a. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure, Mine Property, Plant and Equipment

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Exploration Assets
Costs brought forward 9,235 11,126 - 1
Expenditure incurred during the year 3,757 1,809 - -
Carrying value restated - 112 - -
Expenditure written off during the year (739) (2,713) - (1)
Provision for diminution of exploration properties 631 (1,099) - -
Transfer to Mine Property Held for Sale (187) - - -
Costs carried forward 12,697 9,235 - -

Costs incurred on current areas of interest
- Copper Hill 3,110 145 - -
- Kempfield 17 54 - -
- Parkes 3 73 - -
- Pipeline/Canbelego 6 1,008 - -
- Sunny Corner 35 209 - -
- Northern Territory properties 221 - - -
All other properties 365 320 - -

3,757 1,809 - -
Mine Property
Mine Assets
Costs brought forward 3,441 3,276 - -
Expenditure incurred during the year 163 165 - -
Transfer to Mine Property Held for Sale (3,604) - - -
Costs carried forward - 3,441 - -

Costs incurred on current areas of interest
- Adelong 163 165 - -

163 165 - -
Plant and Equipment
Cost 440 927 115 115
Provision for depreciation/amortisation (218) (337) - -
Net book value 222 590 115 115

Net book value at beginning of year 591 618 115 115
Expenditure incurred during the year 53 14 - -
Depreciation/amortisation expense (44) (42) - -
Transfer to Mine Property Held for Sale (378) - - -
Net book value at 30 June 2006 222 590 115 115

17,088 13,267 115 115

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Details of the economic entity’s exploration tenements are disclosed at the back of the Annual Report.

At year-end there were several areas of interest for which a farm-in partner was being sought.  While there are reasonably-held
expectations of such farm-in partners being found, Directors deemed it prudent to bring forward from 2005 the provisions against
some of the previously carried-forward book values, and make further provisions against the possibility that a farm-in partner will
not be found and the likelihood that carried forward expenditures will need to be written down in the future.  A number of carried
forward expenditures were also written down during the year and one provision written back, as summarised in the table above.

At 30 June 2006, cumulative provisions against the carrying values of exploration properties amounted to $5.0 million (2005: 
$5.6 million).  In the event that farm-in agreements are reached or if GCR undertakes further exploration in its own right on those
properties, the provisions will be reviewed and if appropriate, written back.

8b. CURRENT ASSETS – Mine Property Held for Sale

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Mine Assets
Mine Property held for Sale 4,169 - - -

The Group has recently nominated for sale the Adelong Gold Project, owned via the wholly-owned subsidiary Challenger Mines Ltd.
The offer to sell is by way of invitation to tender, with information set out in an Information Memorandum distributed to various
interested parties.  The timing and the manner of sale both remain uncertain at this time as they will ultimately be dependent upon
the level of interest from prospective purchasers, the acceptability to the Group of the tender offers, and the sale requirements of 
any ultimate purchaser.  No gain or loss in connection with the proposed sale has been recorded in the current financial year subject 
to this financial report due to uncertainty as to the value ultimately to be realised by the sale.  No gain or loss associated with the 
operation of the Adelong Gold Project has been recorded in the current year’s or the prior year’s income statements as all directly
related costs and any related revenues have been capitalised to the cost of the Project.
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9. CURRENT ASSETS – Intangibles

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Goodwill on consolidation 7 7 - -
Less:  Amortisation write off (7) - - -

- 7 - -

10. CURRENT LIABILITIES - Payables

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

Trade payables and other creditors 402 190 45 50

Trade payables and other creditors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

11. CURRENT LIABILITIES – Provisions

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Provision for Annual Leave (See Note 19) 36 36 - -

12. PROVISIONS

12a Non-Current Provisions

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Provision for Mine Rehabilitation – Adelong - 140 - -
Provision for Long Service Leave (See Note 19) 28 57 - -

28 197 - -

The Adelong provision has been reclassified consequent to the decision to sell the Adelong Gold Project – see Note 12b.

12b Current Provisions – Mine Property Held for Sale

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

Provision for Rehabilitation - Mine Property Held for Sale 140 - - -

The provision for mine rehabilitation is in respect of the Adelong Gold Project – refer Note 8b.  This provision has been classified
as “current” because the Adelong Gold Project is presently offered for sale.  If the sale does not proceed, there is no obligation to 
rehabilitate the project within the next 12 months.

13. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

PARENT ENTITY PARENT ENTITY
2006

Shares

‘000

2005

Shares

‘000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

(a)  Issued and paid up

 Ordinary shares 357,031 216,704 30,238 25,434
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Movements in the securities of the Company during the past two years were as follows:

DATE DETAILS NO. OF SHARES ISSUE 
PRICE
CENTS

NO. OF 
OPTIONS

$’000

01.07.04 Opening Balance 185,238,043 12,130,000 23,797
01.07.04 Expiry of Employee Options – Note (c) (70,000) -
12.07.04 Expiry of Employee Options – Note (c) (205,000) -
17.08.04 Issue of Employee Options – Note (c) 670,000 -
30.11.04 Expiry of Employee Options – Note (c) (230,000) -
30.11.04 Issue to Directors under SAS – Note (e) 1,370,000 68
07.02.05 Placement of shares 19,500,000 5.5 1,072
07.03.05 Placement of shares 4,000,000 5.5 220
07.03.05 Issue under SAS  – Note (e) 6,311,443 5.5 347
18.03.05 Issue under SAS  – Note (e) 284,046 5.5 16
29.06.05 Expiry of Employee Options – Note (c) (300,000) -
30.06.05 Closing Balance 216,703,532 11,995,000 25,520

Less: Transaction costs of share issues (86)
30.06.05 Opening Balance 216,703,532 11,995,000 25,434
22.07.05 Issue of Employee Options – Note (c) 645,000 -
10.11.05 Issue to Directors under SAS – Note (e) 1,052,631 3.8 40
22.12.05 Expiry of Employee Options – Note (c) (285,000) -
28.12.05 Issue of Bonus options 41,384,600 -
01.01.06 Expiry of Unquoted 12.5c Options (1,250,000) -
12.01.06 Employee Options cancelled – Note (c) (1,320,000) -
24.01.06 Rights Issue Shares 87,102,568 3.5 3,049
24.01.06 Rights Issue Options 43,551,284 -
26.01.06 Subunderwriters Rights Issue Shares 50,000,000 3.5 1,750
26.01.06 Subunderwriters Rights Issue Options 25,000,000 -
26.01.06 Option Conversion 6,000 5.0 (6,000) -
01.03.06 Option Conversion 137,500 5.0 (137,500) 7
15.03.06 Option Conversion 1,087,144 5.0 (1,087,144) 55
03.04.06 Option Conversion 544,876 5.0 (544,876) 27
03.05.06 Option Conversion 356,754 5.0 (356,754) 17
23.05.06 Issue of Employee Options – Note (c) 11,750,000 -
23.05.06 Issue of options 87
30.05.06 Option Conversion 40,409 5.0 (40,409) 2
27.06.06 Expiry of Employee Options – Note (c) (170,000) -
30.06.06 Closing Balance 357,031,414 129,128,288 30,381

Less: Transaction costs of share issues (143)
30.06.06 Balance 357,031,414 129,128,201 30,238

(b) Options to take up ordinary shares in the capital of the Company are set out in the above table and the table headed “Information
on Directors” in the Directors’ Report.

(c) The Employee Option Plan, re-approved by shareholders at the March 2006 General Meeting, is described at Note 19.  Details 
of options issued to Directors under the Plan are set out in the Directors’ Report.

(d) At the date of this report the following Employee Options were on issue, all exercisable at 10 cents: 170,000 exercisable by
21.12.06, 170,000 exercisable by 28.6.2007, 185,000 exercisable by 20.12.2007, 185,000 exercisable by 25.6.08, 500,000 
exercisable by 11.11.2008, 240,000 exercisable by 17.8.2009, 565,000 exercisable by 20.7.2010 and 11,750,000 exercisable 
by 31.3.2011 (total of 13,765,000 Employee Options);

(e) The Share Acquisition Scheme (“SAS”), re-approved by shareholders at the 2005 AGM, is described at Note 19.  Details of 
shares issued to Directors under the SAS are set out in the Directors’ Report.

Voting Rights
At a general meeting of the Company, every shareholder present in person or by an attorney, representative or proxy has one vote
on a show of hands and one vote per ordinary share on a poll.

Options do not carry voting rights.

14. RESERVES

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Asset revaluation reserve 1,792 1,792 599 599

Share-based compensation reserve 129 51 129 51

1,921 1,843 728 650
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Interest rate risk exposure
At balance date, the Group is exposed to floating weighted average interest rates for financial assets of 0.25% on $57,638 in cash, 
5.25% on $2,600,000 in deposits at call, and between 4.90% and 5.65% on $301,740 in security deposits.

All other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing.

(b) Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The net fair value of all monetary financial assets and financial liabilities of the Golden Cross Group approximate their carrying 
value.

There are no off-balance sheet financial assets and liabilities at year-end.

All financial assets and liabilities are denominated in Australian dollars.

(c) Credit risk exposures
The credit risk on financial assets of the consolidated entity which have been recognised on the balance sheet is generally the 
carrying amount, net of any provision for doubtful debts.

(d) Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and financial liabilities of the 
consolidated entity approximates their carrying amounts.

16. DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES

The following persons were Directors of the Company during the financial year:

Chairman – Non-executive
Christopher Ryan

Executive Director
Kim Stanton-Cook, Managing Director

Non-executive Directors
Kerry McHugh
David Timms
Chris Torrey

Alternate Director
Daven Timms (Alternate Director for David Timms), Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The Company’s key management personnel are listed above;  under the definition contained in AASB, the Company has no executives 
other than those included in the above list of directors who are responsible for the strategic direction and operational management of 
the Company.  In addition to the specified directors, the Company has only thirteen employees, who conduct field and administrative 
work, and have no responsibility for the strategic decision-making of the Company.

REMUNERATION REPORT

The remuneration report is included in the Directors’ Report.

EQUITY INSTRUMENT DISCLOSURES RELATING TO DIRECTORS

Options provided as remuneration

During the financial year a total of 11,750,000 options over ordinary shares in the Company were issued as remuneration to the 
Directors, following approval of shareholders in general meeting.  Details of these options, exercisable at 8 cents per share (issued
to the Managing Director) or 10 cents per share (issued to other Directors) are set out in the table below.

Option Vesting and Valuations 

Details of option vesting and valuations are set out below.  Further information on vesting hurdles of Employee Options is set out
in the Remuneration Report included in the Directors’ Report.

Name
Vested
Number

Granted
number

Grant
date

Value per 
option on 
grant date
(cents)*

Exercise
Price

$

First
exercise

date

Last
exercise

date
Christopher Ryan 1,000,000 1,000,000 25.06.03 1.30 0.15 25.6.03 30.11.06

150,000 2,250,000 13.04.06 4.91 0.10 13.04.06 31.03.11
K. Stanton-Cook 350,000 5,000,000 13.04.06 5.07 0.08 13.04.06 31.03.11
Kerry McHugh 400,000 400,000 09.12.02 1.30 0.15 09.12.02 30.11.06

600,000 600,000 21.12.01 2.80 0.15 21.12.01 30.11.06
50,000 1,000,000 13.04.06 4.91 0.10 13.04.06 31.03.11

David Timms 1,500,000 1,500,000 21.12.01 2.80 0.15 21.12.01 30.11.06
50,000 1,000,000 13.04.06 4.91 0.10 13.04.06 31.03.11

Chris Torrey 105,000 150,000 21.12.01 3.73 0.10 21.12.02 21.12.06
105,000 150,000 28.06.02 4.00 0.10 28.06.03 28.06.07
72,000 160,000 20.12.02 2.39 0.10 20.12.03 20.12.07
72,000 160,000 25.06.03 2.59 0.10 25.06.04 25.06.08

300,000 500,000 11.11.03 4.89 0.10 11.11.03 11.11.08
50,000 1,000,000 13.04.06 4.91 0.10 13.04.06 31.03.11

Total for C Torrey 704,000 2,120,000
Daven Timms 1,000,000 1,000,000 21.12.01 2.80 0.15 21.12.01 30.11.06

75,000 1,500,000 13.04.06 4.91 0.10 13.04.06 31.03.11
Total 5,879,000 17,370,000 
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Note: * These are the assessed fair values of options at the date they were granted, using the Black & Scholes option pricing 
model.  Factors taken into account by the model include the exercise price, term of the option, share price on the date of grant
and expected price volatility of the underlying share, expected dividend yield and risk-free interest rate for the option term.
Vesting and any performance hurdles are not taken into account.

Shares provided on Exercise of Remuneration Options

There were no remuneration options exercised during the year.

Option Holdings

Name Balance Granted as Option Balance Vested at 30 June 2006
01.07.05
(number)

remuneration
(number)

expiry
(number)

30.06.06
(number)

Total
(number)

Exercisable
(number)

Christopher Ryan 1,000,000 2,250,000 - 3,250,000 1,150,000 1,150,000
Kim Stanton-Cook - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 350,000 350,000
Kerry McHugh 1,000,000 1,000,000 - 2,000,000 1,050,000 1,050,000
David Timms 1,500,000 1,000,000 - 2,500,000 1,550,000 1,550,000
Chris Torrey 1,410,000 1,000,000 (290,000) 2,120,000 704,000 704,000
Daven Timms 1,000,000 1,500,000 - 2,500,000 1,075,000 1,075,000
Total: 5,910,000 11,750,000 (290,000) 17,370,000 5,879,000 5,879,000

Note: No options were exercised during the financial year and there were no options vested that were unexercisable at 
30 June 2006.  Details of quoted options received by Directors as part of the Company’s bonus issue of options and rights issue to 
shareholders are set out in the Directors’ Report.

Share Holdings

The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of Golden Cross Resources Ltd, including their 
personally-related entities, are set out below.

Name Balance Received as Options Net Change Balance
01.07.05
(number)

remuneration
(number)

Exercised
(number)

Other
(number)

30.6.06
(number)

Christopher Ryan 462,500 - - 995,000(1) 1,457,500
Kim Stanton-Cook - - - 100,000(2) 100,000
Kerry McHugh 780,206 - - 473,055(3) 1,253,261
David Timms 19,371,289 - - 5,322,200(4) 24,693,489
Chris Torrey 555,482 - - 92,277(5) 647,759
Daven Timms 414,194 - - 265,678(6) 679,872
Total 21,583,671  - - 7,248,210 28,831,881

Notes:

(1) Christopher Ryan purchased 200,000 shares on market at 3.726 cents per share on 11 November 2005, and purchased 
795,000 shares at 3.5 cents per share in the rights issue on 24 January 2006.

(2) Kim Stanton-Cook purchased 100,000 shares at 6.3 cents per share on market on 23 May 2006.

(3) Kerry McHugh purchased 473,055 shares at 3.5 cents per share in the rights issue on 24 January 2006.

(4) David Timms participated in the Share Acquisition Scheme through salary sacrifice in the amount of $40,000 at 3.8c per share 
(1,052,631), as approved at the 2005 AGM.

 David Timms purchased 8,169,569 shares at 3.5 cents per share in the rights issue on 24 January 2006, sold 3,900,000 
shares on market at 8.95 cents per share on 9 March 2006, and exercised 1,000,000 options at 5 cents per share on 15 March 
2006.

(5) Chris Torrey purchased 128,959 shares at 3.5 cents per share in the rights issue on 24 January 2006 and sold 36,682 shares 
on market at 9.3 cents per share on 13 March 2006.

(6) Daven Timms purchased 165,678 shares at 3.5 cents per share in the rights issue on 24 January 2006 and purchased 100,000 
shares at 7.7 cents per share on market on 17 May 2006.

LOANS TO DIRECTORS

There were no loans to directors or director-related entities during the financial year.

OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH DIRECTORS

Christopher Ryan is a director and shareholder of Westchester Financial Services Pty. Ltd , which was paid an underwriting fee 
of $52,000 in connection with the rights issue conducted by the Company in January 2006.  Of this fee, $34,667 was paid to 
subunderwriters. The fee was based on arms’ length commercial terms and conditions.

David Timms is a director and shareholder of Endeavour Minerals Pty Ltd, which was paid fees totaling $22,000 for geological 
consulting and business development services.  The contract was based on normal commercial terms and conditions.

hris Torrey is a director and shareholder of CTEX Pty Ltd, which was paid fees totaling $15,400 for geological consulting services.
The contract was based on normal commercial terms and conditions.

Kerry McHugh is a director and shareholder of Barkly Adams Pty Ltd, which was paid a fee of $7,500 for business development 
services.  The contract was based on normal commercial terms and conditions.
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Amounts Recognised as Expense

2006

$

2005

$
Fees for placement

Underwriting fees

Geological consulting and business development fees

-

52,000

44,900

8,250

-

13,000
96,900 21,250

Aggregate amounts payable to Directors of Golden Cross Resources Ltd at 30 June 2006 relating to the above types of other 
transactions.

2006

$

2005

$
Current/Non-current liabilities 8,932 2,500

17. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$

2005

$

2006

$

2005

$
Remuneration for audit or review of the accounts and consolidated accounts of 
Golden Cross Resources Ltd 

Auditors of parent entity

- Parent entity 34,022 19,500 20,000 18,250
- Controlled entity 8,000 10,000 - -

42,022 29,500 20,000 18,250

18. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases contracted for are payable as follows:

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

Operating Leases
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable 
operating leases are payable as follows:
Not later than 1 year 86 74 - -
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years 90 77 - -
Commitments not recognised in the financial statements 176 151 - -

Exploration Commitments
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, the 
economic entity has the following discretionary exploration expenditure 
requirements up until expiry of the leases.  These obligations, which are subject 
to renegotiation upon expiry of the leases, are not provided for in the financial
statements and are payable:

Not later than one year 805 747 - -
Later than one year but not later than 2 years 492 517 - -

1,297 1,264 - -

If the economic entity decides to relinquish certain leases and/or does not meet these joint venture or annual exploration expenditure
obligations, assets recognised in the balance sheet may require review to determine the appropriateness of carrying values.  The
sale, transfer or farm-out of exploration rights to third parties will reduce or extinguish these obligations.

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

Provision for employee entitlements
 Current (Note 11)
 Non-current (Note 12)

36
28

36
57

-
-

-
-

Aggregate employee entitlements liability 64 93 - -

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

Number
2005

Number
2006

Number
2005

Number
Average number of employees during the financial year 13 10 - -

GOLDEN CROSS EMPLOYEE SHARE ACQUISITION SCHEME (SAS) 

The SAS, re-approved by shareholders at the 2005 AGM, enables the Company to conserve cash by remunerating its employees 
and Directors in shares instead of cash.  Participation in the SAS was offered to all employees in respect of up to half of their
remuneration on a quarterly basis, with elections to be made by employees during the last month of each quarter.  The issue price
of the shares is equal to the weighted average price of GCR shares for the three months immediately preceding the election date.
Details of shares issued are set out in Note 13. 

The total number of shares issued under the SAS and held in trust must not exceed 15% of the total number of the Company’s 
issued shares at any time, and those shares issued under the SAS in any year must not exceed 7.5% of the total number of the 
Company’s issued shares.
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GOLDEN CROSS RESOURCES EMPLOYEE OPTION PLAN

The Golden Cross Resources Employee Option Plan was re-approved by shareholders at the general meeting of shareholders held in 
March 2006.  All employees (including directors and consultants) of Golden Cross Resources Ltd and its controlled entity are eligible
to participate in the plan.  Employee options vest as follows: on date of grant, 10%; after 1 year, 30%; after 2 years, 60%; after 3 
years, 100%.  For issues made prior to November 2003 options vested as follows: on date of grant, nil; after 1 year, 10%; after 2 
years, 25%; after 3 years, 45%; after 4 years, 70%; and after 5 years, 100%.

Refer to Note 13 for details of options issued during the year.  The number of shares in respect of which options are on issue at any 
time must not exceed 5% of the issued capital of the Company at that time.

Golden Cross has on issue 13,765,000 employee options exercisable at 8 cents or 10 cents as follows:

Number Exercise Price Expiry Date
Golden Cross Resources Employee Option Plan Options 170,000

170,000
185,000
185,000
500,000
240,000
565,000

6,750,000
5,000,000

10 cents
10 cents
10 cents
10 cents
10 cents
10 cents
10 cents
10 cents
8 cents

21.12.2006
28.06.2007
20.12.2007
25.06.2008
11.11.2008
17.08.2009
20.07.2010
31.03.2011
31.03.2011

13,765,000

20. RELATED PARTIES

Directors

Disclosures relating to Directors are set out in the Remuneration Report, included in the Directors’ Report.

Wholly Owned Group

The wholly-owned group consists of Golden Cross Resources Ltd and its wholly owned controlled entities, Golden Cross Operations
Pty Ltd and Challenger Mines Ltd.  Ownership interests in these controlled entities are set out in Note 21.  Golden Cross Resources
Ltd is the ultimate parent entity.

Transactions between Golden Cross Resources Ltd and related parties in the wholly owned group during the year ended 30 June 
2006 and 2005 consisted of

loans advanced by Golden Cross Resources Ltd; and

loans repaid to Golden Cross Resources Ltd.

Aggregate amounts receivable from related parties in the wholly-owned group at balance date were as follows.  These loans are 
non-interest bearing with no fixed repayment terms:

PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Loans advanced to controlled entities 15,798 12,943

21. INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Name of Entity Country of 
Incorporation

Class of

Shares

Parent Entity’s 
Investment

Equity Holding Contribution to 
Consolidated

Operating Profit/
(Loss) After Tax

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

%

2005

%

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Parent Entity
Golden Cross Resources Ltd (141)     (58
Controlled Entities
Golden Cross Operations P/L Australia Ordinary - - 100 100 (288) (3,998)
Challenger Mines Ltd Australia Ordinary - - 100 100 (27)     (49)

- - (456) (4,105)

22. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The economic entity operates in the one industry and in one geographical area, namely Australian mineral exploration, evaluation
and development.

23. RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH INFLOW (OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
AFTER INCOME TAX

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Operating profit/(loss) (456) (4,105) (1,203) (4,230)
Depreciation and amortisation 48 44 - -
Write down of inter company receivable - - 1,062 4,200
Exploration expenditure capitalised (3,742) (1,974) - -
Exploration and evaluation expenditure written off 739 2,713 - 1
Provision for diminution of exploration properties (631) 1,099 - -
(Increase)/decrease in other debtors 23 (16) - (4)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 212 (42) (4) 4
Increase/(decrease) in non current liability (29) - - -
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions (58) (34) - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities (3,894) (2,315) (137) (29)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS cont’d

PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000



35GOLDEN CROSS RESOURCES LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2006

24. NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Payments by way of shares to directors and employees under Share 
Acquisition Scheme 40 68 40 68

25. EARNINGS PER SHARE

CONSOLIDATED
2006

Cents

2005

Cents
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.16) (2.08)

2006

No of Shares

2005

No of Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year used in the calculation 
of basic earnings per share 278,768,216 196,971,977

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Earnings (loss) used in calculating basic earnings per share (456) (4,105)

Options

Options are considered to be potential ordinary shares.  However, diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share
as the potential ordinary shares would reduce the loss per share.  The options have not been included in the determination of basic
earnings per share.  Details relating to the options are set out in Note 13.

26. TRANSITION TO AIFRS

For all periods up to and including the year ended 30 June 2005, the Group prepared its financial statements in accordance with 
Australian generally accepted accounting practice (AGAAP).  These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 are the first
the Group is required to prepare in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).
Accordingly, the Group has prepared financial statements that comply with AIFRS applicable for periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2005 and the significant accounting policies meeting those requirements are described in Note 1.  In preparing these 
financial statements the Group has started from an opening balance sheet as at 1 July 2004, the Group’s date of transition to AIFRS, 
and made those changes in accounting policies and other restatements required by AASB 1 First-time adoption of AIFRS.

This note explains the principal adjustments made by the Group in restating its AGAAP balance sheet as at 1 July 2004 and its 
previously published AGAAP financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2005.

Exemptions Applied

AASB 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the general requirement to apply AIFRS retrospectively.

The Group has taken the following exemptions:

• AASB 2 Share-based Payment has not been applied to any equity instruments that were granted on or before 7 November 
2002, nor has it been applied to equity instruments granted after 7 November 2002 that vested before 1 January 2005; 
and

• AASB 3 Business Combinations has not been applied to acquisitions of subsidiaries or of interests in associates or joint 
ventures that occurred before 1 July 2004.

Explanation of Material Adjustments to the Cash Flow Statement

There are no material differences between the cash flow statement presented under AIFRS and the cash flow statement presented 
under AGAAP.

Explanation of Material Adjustments to the Income Statement and Balance Sheet

The only material differences between the income statement and balance sheet presented under AIFRS and the cash flow statement 
presented under AGAAP are due to the differing treatment of share-based payments under AIFRS.

Under AASB 2 Share-based Payments, the Company recognised the fair value of options granted to employees as remuneration as 
an expense on a pro-rata basis over the vesting period in the income statement with a corresponding adjustment to equity.  Share-
based payment costs were not recognised under AGAAP.

The application of AASB 2 resulted in an increase in the consolidated and parent entity accumulated losses and share-based 
compensation reserve at transition date 1 July 2004 by $21,000, an increase in the consolidated and parent entity income statement
loss and transfers to the share-based compensation reserve for the year ended 30 June 2005 by $30,000 and, as a consequence 
of these adjustments, an increase in the consolidated and parent entity accumulated losses and share based compensation reserve
at 30 June 2005 by $51,000.

The following Accounting Standards Amendments and Interpretations may have application to the Group’s financial reports in future 
years but have not been early adopted for the purpose of this financial report:
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AASB
Amend-
ment

Affected Standard (s) Nature of 
change to 
accounting
policy

Application
date of 
standard

Application
date for 
Group

Summary

2005-10 AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and 
Presentation, AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements, AASB 114 Segment Reporting,
AASB 117 Leases, AASB 133 Earnings per Share,
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement, AASB 1 First-time adoption of 
AIFRS, AASB 4 Insurance Contracts, AASB 1023 
General insurance Contracts and AASB 1038 Life
Insurance Contracts

Currently
being
assessed

1 January 
2007

1 July 2007 These 
amendments
arise from 
the release 
of AASB 7 
relating to 
financial
instrument
disclosures.

New Standard/UIG

Affected Standard (s)

Nature of 
change to 
accounting
policy

Application
date of 
standard/
interpretation

Application
date for 
Group

Summary

AASB 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures

Currently
being
assessed

1 January 2007 1 July 2007 The Standard requires disclosure of:

- the significance of financial instruments for an 
entity’s financial position and performance; and

- qualitative and quantitative information 
about exposure to risks arising from financial
instruments, including specified minimum 
disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk.  

UIG 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease

No change 
expected

1 January 2006 1 July 2006 Specifies criteria for determining whether an 
arrangement is, or contains, a lease.

UIG 5 Rights to Interests 
in Decommissioning, 
Restoration and 
Environmental
Rehabilitation Funds

No change 
expected

1 January 2006 1 July 2006 Addresses accounting for the rights to interests in 
decommissioning, restoration and environmental 
rehabilitation funds and for additional contributions 
to such a fund.

UIG 8 Scope of AASB 2 No change 
expected

1 May 2006 1 July 2006 Clarifies that the scope of AASB 2 deals with 
transactions in which an entity cannot identify 
specifically some or all of the goods or services 
received as consideration for the share-based 
payment instrument.

The following recent Accounting Standards Amendments and Interpretations are not applicable to the Group and therefore are not 
expected to have any impact on future financial reports.

AASB
Amendment

Affected Standard (s)

2004-3 AASB 119 Employee Benefits

2005-1 AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

2005-4
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure and Presentation, AASB 1 First-time adoption of AIFRS, AASB 1023 General insurance Contracts
and AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts

2005-5 AASB 1 First-time adoption of AIFRS and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

2005-6 AASB 3 Business Combinations

2005-9 AASB 4 Insurance Contracts, AASB 1023 General insurance Contracts, AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

2006-1 AASB 121 The Effects of Change in Foreign Currency Rates

AASB129 UIG 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies

AASB132 UIG 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

27. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The financial report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2006 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors on 2 August 2006.

Golden Cross Resources Ltd is a company limited by shares and incorporated in Australia.  Its shares are publicly traded on the
Australian Stock Exchange under the ticker code “GCR”.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Company are described in note 22.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
The Directors declare that:

(a) in their opinion:

(i) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable; and

(ii) the financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(A) the Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and

(B) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2006 and 
of their performance, as represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows, for the financial
year ended on that date; and

(b) they have received the declaration from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required under section 295(4) 
of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Kim Stanton-Cook, Managing Director,
Sydney, 2 August 2006

Auditorʼs Independence Declaration to the Directors of Golden Cross Resources Ltd 

In relation to our review of the financial report of Golden Cross Resources Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2006, to the best of 
my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct. 

Ernst & Young 

Partner 2 August 2006 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

The Directors declare that:

(a) in their opinion:

(i) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable; and

(ii) the financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(A) the Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and

(B) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2006 and 
of their performance, as represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows, for the financial
year ended on that date; and

(b) they have received the declaration from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required under section 295(4) 
of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Kim Stanton-Cook, Managing Director,
Sydney, 2 August 2006
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INTERESTS IN MINING TENEMENTS
As at 17 August 2006

PROPERTY NAME TENEMENT NAME TENEMENT

(1)

AREA

(sq km)

HOLDER (2) PERCENT 
HOLDING

JOINT VENTURE 
PARTNER

NSW

Adelong Challenger ML 1435 1.5 CML 100

Batlow EL 5728 81 CML 100 

Batlow South EL 5995 31 GCO 100

Mineral Claims 13 Mineral Claims Held in trust for CGL by GCR, GCO and employees

Nangus EL 6372 734 GCO 100 

Broken Hill Broken Hill EL 6518 393 GCO 100 JOGMEC, Inco (3)

Little Darling Creek MC 159 2 ha GCO 40 Inco (3)

Cargo Cargo EL 5238 60 GCO 100 

Belubula EL 6466 420 GCO 100 AEI (4)

Cobar Region Pipeline/Canbelego EL 5842 216 GCO 100 (5)

Buppe EL 6440 3 GCO 100

Wagga Tank EL 5130 163 GCO 100 (6)

Copper Hill Copper Hill EL 6391 95 GCO 100

Eastern NSW Breadalbane EL 6292 147 GCO 100

Sunny Corner EL 5964 104 GCO 100

Holbrook EL 6491 250 GCO 100

Kempfield Kempfield EL 5748 121 GCO 100 

Bean Lease Priv. lands lease 519 0.66 ha GCO 100

Henrys’ Leases ML 4870, PLL 517, 
PLL 727, PLL 728

2.4 ha GCO Option to purchase 100% for 
$120,000

Kempfield Group 2 EL 5645 8 GCO 100

Parkes Parkes EL 6087 129 GCO 100 (7)

McPhails ML 1387 11 ha GCO 90 (8)

West Wyalong West Wyalong EL 5915 110 GCO 100 (9) 

Yellow Mountain Yellow Mountain EL 6325 365 GCO/Triako 30 Triako holds 70%

ROYALTIES ROYALTY TYPE

Mt Boppy Canbelego Mt Boppy Gold Mine 2.2 Polymetals Royalty 3% gross

BrightStar Alpha Merolia Former E38/970 25 A1 Minerals Royalty 2% gross.

Wyoming One McPhails EL 5830 10 Alkane Royalty 
(10)

Up to 5% nsr.

Yellow Mountain Yellow Mountain Former EL 6325 365 GCO/Triako Royalty 2% net smelter 
return

Notes (1)  Full titles for abbreviations in Tenement column are as follows:

 EL/E, or ELA Exploration Licence, or Exploration Licence Application

 MC  Mineral Claim

 ML  Mining Lease

(2) Full Names for abbreviated names of Tenement Holders and Joint Venture Partners are as follows:

A1 Minerals A1 Minerals Limited (ASX: AAM)

Alkane  Alkane Exploration Limited (ASX:ALK)

CML  Challenger Mines Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Golden Cross Resources

GCO  Golden Cross Operations Pty Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Golden Cross Resources

Polymetals Polymetals Mining Services Pty Ltd

Triako  Triako Resources Limited (ASX:TKR)

(3) JOGMEC can earn 25.5%/51% in a 27-unit area in the north of the EL by spending $1 million/$2 million and 
Inco can earn 60% in a 112-unit area in the south of the EL, and in the MC, by spending $2.4 million.

(4) Agricultural Equity Investments Pty Ltd can earn 70% by spending $3.1 million.

(5) Various portions are subject to a 10% free carried interest held by Metallic Resources P/L and a 5% net profits
interest payable to Nosebi Mining & Management P/L.

(6) Zinifex Australia can earn 51% by spending $550,000.

(7) Sipa Exploration NL and Michelago Limited each hold a 0.5% nsr royalty over a portion of the tenement.

(8) GCO holds a 90% equitable interest in the area of former ML 1387 “McPhails”, consisting of 13 hectares.  
Metallic Resources Pty Ltd holds a 10% free carried interest.

(9) Subject to 2.5% net smelter return royalty held by Lac Minerals (Australia) NL, subsidiary of Barrick Gold Corp.

(10) GCO holds a royalty of $0.75/t (first 0.5 Mt), then 3% net smelter return (to 150,000 oz), then 5% net smelter 
return.  GCO’s royalty interest is subject to a 10% free carried interest held by Metallic Resources Pty Ltd.



SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
The shareholder information set out below was correct at 27 July 2006.

A. DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Holding Range
Shares Quoted Options (ex. 5c by 30.9.06)

Holders Total Held % Holders Total Held %
1 - 1,000 47 23,687 0.007 182 135,864 0.126

1,001 - 5,000 167 704,390 0.197 327 906,084 0.841
5,001 - 10,000 201 1,734,533 0.486 156 1,210,976 1.124

10,001 - 100,000 857 40,242,136 11.271 416 15,160,556 14.070
100,001 + 456 314,338,098 88.039 164 90,338,378 83.839

Total 1,728 357,042,844 100.00 1,236 107,751,848 100.00

(a) There were 292 holders of less than a marketable parcel of fully paid shares (less than $500 worth) based on the 
closing price of 5.9 cents per share.

(b) The percentage holding of the twenty largest holders was: Shares = 43.52%; Options = 47.11%

(c) There were 13.765 million employee options on issue (ex. 8c or 10c by 31.3.2011 – see Note 19 of the Financial 
Report for details), held by 11 employees.

(d) There were 7.6 million directors’ options on issue (ex. 15c by 30.11.2006).

B. RESTRICTED SECURITIES
The Company had no restricted securities on issue.  The Company has 1 million shares subject to voluntary escrow, held by 
Orchid Capital Limited.

C. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Substantial shareholder, as determined by substantial shareholder notices received by GCR, are:

Name No. of Shares Held %

Commonwealth Bank of Australia 34,564,111 9.7

David Timms 24,693,489* 7.0

Phoenix Gold Fund 20,000,000 5.6

Note:  * David Timms’ substantial shareholding includes relevant interests in shares held by Golden Cross Plan Managers and 
Jennifer Timms, and differs from his registered shareholding.

D.  VOTING RIGHTS
One vote for each ordinary share held in accordance with the Constitution.  Options do not carry voting rights.

E. TWENTY LARGEST HOLDERS
The names of the twenty largest registered holders of shares and quoted options are listed below:

Shares Quoted Options
Name No. Held % Name No. Held %

1 National Nominees Limited 27,618,501 7.735 HSBC Custody Nominees (Aust) Ltd-
GSI ECSA 12,150,000 11.276

2 HSBC Custody Nominees (Aust) Ltd 21,160,000 5.926 HSBC Custody Nominees (Aust) Ltd 10,080,000 9.355

3 HSBC Custody Nominees (Aust) Ltd-
GSI ECSA 12,538,451 3.512 HSBC Custody Nominees (Aust) Ltd-

GSI ECSA 2,850,000 2.645

4 Westpac Custodian Nominees Ltd 11,640,493 3.260 Mr Colin Stuart Flynn 2,628,681 2.440

5 Mr John Qurik 7,940,000 2.224 Mr Robert Cameron Galbraith 2,240,120 2.079

6 Golden Cross Plan Managers 7,029,542 1.969 Mr Erwin John Clayton 2,098,928 1.948

7 HSBC Custody Nominees (Aust) Ltd 
GSI ECSA 6,822,057 1.911 Merrill Lynch (Aust) Nominees Pty 

Ltd Unpaid 1 A/C 2,087,778 1.938

8 Mr Peter David Timms 6,769,321 1.896 Mr John Quirk 2,040,000 1.893

9 Mr Robert Cameron Galbraith 6,160,330 1.725 Golden Cross Plan Managers 2,007,584 1.863

10 Metallic Resources Pty Ltd 5,537,719 1.551 Mr Peter David Timms 1,934,092 1.795

11 Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 4,640,914 1.300 Mr David Timms 1,317,310 1.223

12 Mr David Timms 4,610,585 1.291 Tordo De Plata Pty Ltd 1,250,000 1.160

13 Aurcay Holdings Pty Ltd 4,600,000 1.288 Metallic Resources Pty Ltd 1,107,544 1.028

14 Mrs Jennifer Ann Timms 4,002,014 1.121 Mr John William Meredith 1,075,000 0.998

15 Dr Leon Eugene Pretorius 4,000,000 1.120 Mr Douglas John Lawrence 1,050,000 0.974

16 Mr & Mrs M Price Super Fund A/C 3,756,407 1.052 Boom Securities (HK) Ltd <client > 1,040,000 0.965

17 Tasman Asset Management Ltd 3,638,600 1.019 Tasman Asset Management Ltd 1,039,600 0.965

18 ANZ Nominees 3,510,532 0.983 Mrs Jennifer Ann Timms 972,004 0.902

19 Mr Erwin John Clayton 3,404,244 0.953 Mr Peter Zaverdino 912,222 0.847

20 Sipa Resources Limited 3,000,000 0.840 Mr P Thomas & Mrs J Thomas 885,500 0.822

155,379,710 43.519 50,766,363 47.114




